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About IRD
IRD is an Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS)
company and a world leader in the highway traffic
management and in-vehicle systems solutions
industry. IRD’s technology base evolved from
Weigh-In-Motion (WIM), vehicle detection and
vehicle measuring systems.
For more than 30 years, IRD has diversified both
from a markets and geographical perspective.
IRD Systems are designed and built by a multidisciplinary, customer-focused team which fuses
core IRD technology with integrated computing
and communications technologies. IRD operates
in the following markets:
• Commercial Vehicle Operations (CVO)
• Traffic Data Collection and Reporting
• Telematics
• Toll Systems
• Traffic Safety and Security Systems
• Service and Maintenance Programs

ANNUAL MEETING
The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting
will be held at IRD Corporate Office,
702 43rd Street East, Saskatoon, SK
Thursday, May 9, 2013 at 3:30 PM (CST).

Financial Highlights
Period Ended November 30		

2012		

2011

(in $000’s except per share amounts)

Sales
Canada
United States
Offshore
		

3,136
24,396
14,046

3,663
20,866
14,570

41,577

39,099

Net Loss
Loss per Share - Basic
Working Capital
Shareholders’ Equity per Share

(647)
(0.05)
7,003
$ 1.18

(3,477)
(0.25)
7,430
$ 1.23

Operating Highlights
•
•
•
•

Gross margins improve significantly on enhanced product mix
Increased profitability on international product sales
Equity investment in China makes solid contribution to earnings
Subsidiary in India showing improvement in operating results
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Report to Shareholders
2012 was a much better year for IRD as we increased our revenues, expanded the Company’s presence in our key
geographic markets, and generated stronger gross margins and improved results.
For the year ended November 30, 2012 revenues rose 6.6% to $41.6 million as solid gains in our commercial vehicle
and data collection systems, combined with higher-margin product sales and maintenance contracts, were partially
offset by slightly reduced revenues from our toll and in-vehicle (telematics) systems. Geographically, revenues in the
United States rose 16.9% due in part to improved business fundamentals arising from a recently-approved funding
bill passed by the US Congress. Approximately 74% of our revenues in fiscal 2012 were denominated in US dollars.
Revenues in Canada for the year declined slightly due to a reduction in product deliveries this year and a major
delivery in fiscal 2011. Offshore sales revenues were also down moderately as increased business levels in both our
Chile and India subsidiaries were offset by lower product sales across other international markets.
We were also pleased to see much improved performance and a solid contribution to equity earnings from our 50%
investment in XPCT in China as it recorded positive gains on the completion of a significant traffic systems project as
well as continued and growing profits from its new wire harness business.
Importantly, gross margin as a percentage of revenues improved significantly to 29.5% in fiscal 2012 compared to
23.1% in the prior year. The increase is due primarily to a return to more normal profit levels following significant
project delays experienced at our subsidiary in India last year, and increased revenues from higher-margin
maintenance contracts and off-the-shelf product sales in fiscal 2012.
As a result of the higher sales levels, improved margins and lower financing costs, we returned to positive earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) for the year of $0.7 million compared to a loss of $2.0
million in fiscal 2011.
Looking ahead, the growing markets continue. The funding bill approved by the US Congress in June 2012
should generate further growth in our US markets over the next two years, while our South American subsidiary
in Chile continues to develop new business opportunities throughout Latin America. We are pleased to have
generated positive equity earnings with our investment in China and expect this progress will continue. We are also
encouraged by the significant improvement at our Indian subsidiary following a challenging year in 2011, and, while
there are still a number of issues facing this operation, we are confident it is on track for improved performance.
Longer-term, we are confident our markets and our financial results will continue to strengthen. Based on the volume
of opportunities we believe are currently available in our markets, our future is very positive. A growing and changing
market attracts new competition. In response, we maintain an active R&D program developing new IP, products and
advancing our existing products and systems and thus maintaining our market leadership.
IRD’s core expertise, knowhow and intellectual property is utilized in the detection, measurement and weighing of
vehicles in-motion, and we integrate these capabilities into various products and system solutions. Over the last ten
years, as the ITS industry has matured, our core offerings evolved with standardization and “productization” while
continuing to support custom applications and solutions development that are an important part of many of the
advanced systems that we deliver. Our experience as a systems integrator enables us to incorporate associated
transportation technologies to develop additional solutions for complementary markets including Highway Toll
Systems, Security and Safety Solutions, and Fleet Telematics using various on-board sensors and GPS systems.
We also provide related IRD and OEM off-the-shelf products to other systems integrators and end users. In addition,
our recurring revenue stream continues to grow as our customers choose to purchase services versus owning
systems and equipment. Significant recurring revenue opportunities are developing through long term PrivatePublic-Partnership contracts and opportunities as an Application Service Provider. Furthermore, with our growing

2

installed equipment base our revenue stream from long term, multi-year maintenance contracts will also continue to
grow.
Our success and strong reputation in North America since our founding in 1980 has allowed us to demonstrate the
value of our core technologies, knowledge and capabilities to transportation agencies around the world, and we
have been very successful in selling our products and systems in a number of international markets. Our focus on
growing this international business is intended to further diversify our revenue streams, provide more stability in our
earnings, while also offering additional growth opportunities.
Looking longer term, our vision is to continue to build on these core strengths to expand our sales in these
traditional ITS markets, while also focusing our attentions and R&D on adapting and transitioning our solutions to
support the evolution of the Automated Highway System (AHS) of the future.
Demonstrations and evaluations of AHS technologies are currently being performed in a number of markets and
include the use of vehicle-to-vehicle communications as well as communications between vehicles and embedded
in-road and roadside sensors, controllers and other transportation infrastructure. The deployment of AHS solutions
will also provide access to vehicle, driver and commercial vehicle manifest information for enforcement and remote
as well as driver validation, compliance with vehicle licensing and insurance requirements, and verification of
conformance to other regulatory requirements including hours of service, fuel and road usage taxes and tolls.
We believe many of our product offerings and technologies, as well as our ongoing research and development
programs, will support our inclusion in the evolving deployment of AHS solutions in the years to come. For example,
we are already providing roadway and traffic data consistent with AHS requirements, and our electronics backbone
has been designed to provide a communications conduit from embedded in-road and roadside sensors that are
essential to the proper function of an AHS solution. In addition, our current centralized and cloud-based enterprise
data systems can provide the necessary information for toll, traffic management, roadway and maintenance
operations and other data-based services including the distribution of information to transportation infrastructure
customers using dedicated and Application Service Provider delivery models.
Indeed, our future is bright at IRD. We will continue to execute our strategic programs to strengthen our presence in
international markets and entrench our leadership position in North America. Our global footprint, including sales,
service, support and manufacturing operations in Canada, the United States, Chile, India and China, enables us to
act quickly and effectively on opportunities around the world. As both developed and developing countries utilize
transportation infrastructure to support their economies, our competitive strengths and international presence,
combined with our reputation for quality, value and on-time deliver, bode well for progress in the years ahead. And
as the Automated Highway System of the future unfolds, we are well positioned for continued growth and prosperity.
In closing, on behalf of the Board of Directors, we thank everyone on the IRD team for their hard work and dedication
over the last year. We also thank our customers for their business, our suppliers and partners for their contributions,
and our shareholders for their support.

Terry Bergan
President and CEO
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Management’s Discussion & Analysis of Operating Results
For the Three and Twelve Months ended November 30, 2012

The following discussion and analysis of International Road Dynamics Inc. (‘IRD’ or the ‘Company’) operating results,
financial position and cash flows has been prepared by management as of February 27, 2013. The discussion and
analysis is based on the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the twelve months ended November 30, 2012 and 2011 and should be read with reference to those financial statements and the accompanying notes
available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
Conversion to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
The Company adopted IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board effective for its interim consolidated financial statements beginning December 1, 2011 with a transition date of December 1, 2010. Comparative data for all periods subsequent to November 30, 2010 has been restated to reflect the adoption of IFRS. Refer
to note 21 of the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for a detailed explanation of the Company’s
transition.
COMPANY OVERVIEW AND OUTLOOK
International Road Dynamics Inc. is one of the world’s
leading providers of integrated systems and solutions
for the global worldwide Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Industry. The core strengths of the Company
are its international sales network and installed base
of systems, its intellectual property (IP) (trade names,
patents, trademarks and other proprietary knowledge),
and its ability to utilize a variety of technologies, including the Company’s patented Weigh-In-Motion (WIM)
technology, to detect, classify and weigh vehicles at
highway speeds. With these core competencies, the
Company is able to deliver automated systems for
commercial vehicle operations, management and safety
at truck weigh stations, border crossings, bus depots
and elsewhere, highway traffic data collection, traffic
safety, open and closed highway toll collection, as well
as driver and vehicle management systems. IRD is the
world’s largest provider of WIM systems.
The Company’s revenue is derived from selling integrated systems, maintenance services and products.
Integrated systems are made up of a combination of the
Company’s proprietary hardware and software technology, proprietary WIM products, custom engineering,
installation and setup services, maintenance service
contracts and as an Application Service Provider (ASP),
OEM equipment such as machine vision for vehicle
identification, cameras and illuminators, automatic vehicle identification readers and transponders. Construction and electrical services related to integrated system
revenue are subcontracted to independent third parties.
The majority of the Company’s revenue is generated as
a result of the efforts of transportation agencies around
the world to protect and enhance their highway infrastructure, monitor traffic volumes and trends, manage
traffic, enforce weight regulations and charge vehicle
operators for the use of their roads, as well as by the
private sector to enhance efficiencies within transportation systems.
The ITS Industry is a worldwide market and the Company’s success and strong reputation in North America
has allowed it over the last few years to demonstrate its
technology, knowledge and capabilities to transporta-

tion agencies around the world, providing the opportunity to deploy certain products and systems outside its
core North American markets. The Company’s focus on
developing new international business is also intended
to further diversify its revenue streams and potentially
provide more stability in revenues and earnings while
providing a long term growth opportunity.
In some regions or countries, IRD has partnered with
qualified agents and distributors. In others, in order to
more effectively capitalize on larger and longer term
market opportunities while complying with local content
requirements, a subsidiary operation has been developed. Subsidiary operations provide cost advantages
including localized labor, lower shipping, duties and
customs fees, and reduced head office technical support requirements. In line with this strategy, the Company has established subsidiary operations in India,
Chile and, through an equity investment in Xuzhou-PAT
Control Technologies Limited (XPCT), in China.
In order to continue to grow the Company’s international business, management intends to work in partnership
with roadway operators, government highway agencies
and concessionaires to provide products and services
incorporating the Company’s intellectual property (IP)
through long term contracts. Management believes this
approach will produce increased recurring revenue over
time while providing the opportunity to increase and
further diversify the Company’s customer base.
Over the longer term, the Company’s vision is to continue
to participate in the development and deployment of ITS
technologies and solutions while supporting the future
evolution of the Automated Highway System (AHS).
Demonstrations and evaluations of AHS technologies
are currently being performed and include the use of
vehicle-to-vehicle communications as well as communications between vehicles and embedded in-road and
roadside sensors, controllers and other transportation
infrastructure. In addition, access to vehicle, driver and
commercial vehicle manifest information for enforcement and other agencies for remote and local validation of drivers, compliance with vehicle licensing and
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insurance requirements and verification of conformance
to other regulatory requirements including hours of
service, fuel and road usage taxes and tolls will also be
available through the deployment of AHS technologies.
The speed of the development and deployment of AHS
technologies is dependent on a number of factors,
including the ability of governments to finance the construction of highways and complementary infrastructure
with the communications and other services needed to
support AHS. Management believes that this issue may
be addressed by AHS suppliers cooperating to provide
alternate sources of funding through Public Private
Partnership business models that include tolls, user
fees such as congestion pricing and weight-distance
tax, and other means.
Management believes the Company’s current product offerings and technologies, as well as its ongoing
research and development programs, will support the
Company’s inclusion in the evolving potential deployment of AHS solutions over the long term. For example,
the Company provides roadway and traffic data consistent with AHS requirements and its electronics provide
a communications conduit from embedded in-road and
roadside sensors that are essential to the proper function of an AHS solution. In addition, the Company’s
centralized and/or cloud-based enterprise data systems
can provide the necessary information for toll, traffic
management, roadway and maintenance operations
and other data-based services including the distribution
of information to transportation infrastructure users or
customers using dedicated and ASP delivery models.

Operating Highlights
Operating highlights for the year ended November 30,
2012 are as follows:
• Company maintains strong financial position with
positive working capital position of $7.0 million
• Revenues up 6.3% for the fiscal year on solid
growth across majority of product lines and most
geographic regions
• Gross margins improve significantly on enhanced
product mix and increased profitability on
international product sales
• EBITDA positive of $0.7 million in fiscal 2012
compared to negative of $2.0 million last year
• Equity investment in China makes solid
contribution to earnings
• Subsidiary in Chile increased profitable earnings
on expanding South America operations. Company
also signed significant new order for a major
contract in Paraguay for delivery in 2013
• Subsidiary in India showing improvement in operating results
Results of Operations
The following is a description of the results of operations on a consolidated basis. A description of operations by product line and geographic basis is set forth
below under the headings ‘Revenue by Product Line’
and ‘Revenue by Geographic Area’.

Comparative Statements of Loss
For the three and twelve month periods ended November 30, 2012 and 2011
Three Months Ended
November 30
Revenue
Cost of goods sold
Gross margin
Gross margin percentage
Administrative and marketing expenses
Research and development, net
Financing costs, net
Other income
XPCT (earnings) loss
Loss before taxes
Income tax expense
Net loss
EBITDA (See Non-IFRS Measures)
as a percentage of revenue

2012
$ 10,961,552
7,890,096
3,071,456
28.0%
3,063,740
499,375
518,921
(23,892)
(380,750)
(605,938)
141,612
$
(747,550)
(257,716)
(2.4)%

2011
$ 9,345,753
7,066,670
2,279,083
24.4%
2,494,718
264,355
942,278
(32,577)
161,103
(1,550,794)
528,432
$ (2,079,226)
(1,159,282)
(12.4)%

Twelve Months Ended
November 30
2012
$ 41,577,313
29,318,318
12,258,995
29.5%
10,764,001
1,289,029
994,630
(60,293)
(378,507)
(349,865)
297,593
$
(647,458)
749,072
1.8%

2011
$ 39,098,503
30,066,609
9,031,894
23.1%
10,000,730
1,005,553
1,574,394
(49,544)
(37,688)
(3,461,551)
14,967
$ (3,476,518)
(2,004,884)
(5.1)%

Revenue increased by 17.3% in the fourth quarter and by 6.3% for the year ended November 30, 2012 compared
to their respective prior periods in 2011, reflecting improvement across the majority of the Company’s product lines
and geographic regions.
Gross margin, as a percentage of revenues, returned to expected and historic levels in both the fourth quarter and
year ended November 30, 2012 due primarily to product mix changes as higher-margin maintenance contract revenues and product sales represented a larger portion of total revenues than the prior year, combined with improved
profitability on international projects.
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Administrative and marketing expenses increased 7.6%
for the year ended November 30, 2012 due to increases
in professional and advisory fees, premises costs, and
selling expenses in the United States and international
operations.
XPCT earnings rose sharply in 2012 on strong fourth
quarter results in both its traffic and wire harness business units.

The Company’s net loss for the year is related to losses
in its Indian subsidiary which, although improved from
the prior year, continued to experience difficulties in the
completion of certain projects and account collection.
All other areas of the Company’s operations reported
profitable results.
The Company delivered positive EBITDA in fiscal 2012,
a significant improvement from the prior year that is
expected to be sustained in future.

Revenue by Product Line
The following is a breakdown of the Company’s revenues for the fourth quarter and year ended November 30:
Three Months Ended
November 30
2012
Commercial vehicle systems
$ 4,006,951
$
Data collection systems		
754,344		
Toll systems		
575,818		
Telematics (in-vehicle systems)		
257,847		
Contracted projects		 5,594,960		
Service		 3,018,415		
Product sales		 2,348,177		
Total
$ 10,961,552
$
Revenue from contracted projects which include commercial vehicle, data collection, toll and in-vehicle systems improved strongly in the fourth quarter by 12.0%
resulting in flat sales for the year. Highlights include:
• Commercial vehicle and data collection systems,
increased by 6.4% in 2012 primarily on strength of
improvements in the Company’s United States and
South American markets.
• Revenue from toll systems decreased by 13.0% for
the year ended November 30, 2012 compared to
the prior year due primarily to a major contract in
Asia in 2011 that was not replaced by any similar
size project in 2012.
• Revenue from Telematics decreased 21.3% for the
year ended November 30, 2012 as the Company
transitions to a new product offering for this market
segment.
Service revenues include various multi-year maintenance and support contracts, and value-added data
collection services for data collection and telematics
(in-vehicle) needs. Revenues rose 4.8% in the fourth
quarter and 19.6% for the year compared with the prior
year as the Company increased maintenance contract
awards across all the Company’s operating units.

2011
3,023,143
$
534,604 		
1,058,643 		
378,969 		
4,995,359 		
2,881,326 		
1,469,068 		
9,345,753
$

Twelve Months Ended
November 30
2012
10,782,067
$
3,211,947 		
3,247,072
1,034,220 		
18,275,306
12,473,472 		
10,828,535 		
41,577,313
$

2011
10,052,351
3,101,626
3,731,970
1,314,020
18,199,967
10,433,152
10,465,384
39,098,503

Product sales increased strongly in the fourth quarter,
resulting in a 3.5% increase for the year as product
sales rose in most of the Company’s geographic markets.
Approximately 74% of the Company’s revenue for the
year ended November 30, 2012 was denominated in
U.S. dollars. During the year 2012, the Canadian dollar
weakened against the U.S. dollar by approximately
1.5% resulting in an increase in the Canadian dollar
value of the Company’s U.S. dollar denominated sales
of approximately $500,000. This impact is partially offset
by the corresponding increase in the value of U.S. dollar denominated expenses.
The Company recognizes that, in any given year, revenues and earnings may fluctuate on a quarterly and
annual basis due to the timing of contract awards and
completion date requirements, much of which cannot
be controlled by the Company. However, management
remains focused on identifying and monitoring revenue
opportunities for all of its product lines and across all
of its geographic regions. With an active sales force in
most major global markets and supported by a welldeveloped network of independent distributor and
agency relationships, the Company maintains an active
funnel of project opportunities to ensure a recurring
stream of sales.
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Revenue by Geographic Area
The following is a breakdown of the Company’s revenues for the fourth quarter and year ended November 30 by
geographic area:
Three Months Ended
November 30

Twelve Months Ended
November 30

2012
2011
2012
2011
Canada
$ 1,054,734
$
987,245
$ 3,135,544
$ 3,662,323
United States		 5,826,339		 4,983,585		 24,395,723		 20,866,215
Offshore		 4,080,479		 3,374,923		 14,046,046		 14,569,965
Total
$ 10,961,552
$ 9,345,753
$ 41,577,313
$ 39,098,503
Revenue in Canada increased by 6.8% in the fourth
quarter of 2012 compared to the prior year but declined
year over year by 14.4% due primarily to reduced revenues from project deliveries in the current year and a
major delivery in fiscal 2011. Due to the smaller size of
this market, Canadian revenues are expected to fluctuate significantly on a year over year basis depending on
the size and number of projects that become available
across the country.

and year ended November 30, 2012 due primarily to
product mix changes as higher-margin maintenance
contract revenues and product sales represented a
higher proportion of total revenues, combined with
improved profitability on international projects. In
particular, the Company’s subsidiary in India reported
a return to positive margins due to growth in its service
and products business. The Company remains focused
on enhancing margins.

Revenue in the United States increased 16.9% in the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 and 16.9% for the year
ended November 30, 2012 compared to the prior year
periods as the business climate for the Company’s
products has improved. The Company remains confident of sustaining and increasing its business potential
in the United States over the near term based on federal
funding support.

Administrative, Marketing and Research and Development Expenses

Offshore revenue increased by 20.9% in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012, however, annual revenues declined
by 3.6% in 2012 compared to the prior year. Revenues
increased in both the Company’s Chilean and Indian
subsidiaries, however, these gains were offset by lower
product sales across other international markets. The
Company continues to maintain a strong position in the
Latin American market with opportunities for expansion
in a number of countries outside its Chilean core business. In addition, the Company continues to identify
a growing number of highway and toll systems project
opportunities in both India and other Southeast Asian
markets.
Gross Margin
Gross margins, as a percentage of revenues, returned
to expected and historic levels in both the fourth quarter

Administrative and marketing expenses increased 7.6%
in 2012 compared to the prior year due primarily to
higher professionally fees related to audit costs and
advisory services related to the Company’s conversion to IFRS reporting standards, as well as other third
party advisory services. In addition, premises costs
increased as the Company incurred a full year of rental
expenses on its Saskatoon location resulting from
the sale/lease back of its building completed in the
second quarter of 2011 (see discussion under Capital
Resources below). In addition, the Company incurred
increased travel and other selling expenses related to
expanded activities within the United States, India and
South America.
Throughout 2012, the Company continued an active
program of technology development. The Company
incurred net research and development (“R&D”) expenses for the year of 3.1% of revenues as compared to
2.6% of revenues in 2011. Net R&D spending includes
investment tax credits recognized on eligible scientific
research expenditures in its Canadian operations of
$221,595 (2011 - $387,034).

Financing Costs
Three Months Ended
November 30
Interest on short-term debt
$
Interest on long-term debt		
Interest expense		
Bad debt expense		
Other financing costs		
Foreign exchange losses (gains)		
Losses (gains) on derivatives		
$
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2012
2011
138,521
$
91,773
$
4,895		
19,233		
143,416		 111,006		
351,555		 905,867		
-		
-		
8,354		 (161,022)		
(14,150)		
86,427		
489,175
$
942,278
$

Twelve Months Ended
November 30
2012
2011
423,525
$
324,655
43,996 		
217,479
467,521		
542,134
381,301		
905,867
- 		
140,523
184,608		 (102,217)
(38,800)		
88,087
994,630
$ 1,574,394

Interest Expense
The Company experienced higher interest expense on
short-term debt in the fourth quarter of 2012, as a result
of higher interest rates on its Royal Bank of Canada
(RBC) line of credit. The Company’s Indian facility
remained fully drawn throughout the fourth quarter at
an average interest rate of 12.5%. Interest on long-term
debt has declined in fiscal 2012 due to the sale of the
Company’s head office in Saskatoon in the second
quarter of fiscal 2011 which resulted in the repayment of
a long term mortgage.
Bad Debt Expense
The Company recorded a fourth quarter provision
of $351,555 (2011- $905,867) resulting in total bad
debt expense for 2012 of $381,301 (2011 - $905,867),
substantially all of which relates to account collection
issues within the Indian subsidiary.
Foreign Exchange
Many of the Company’s assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses are denominated in foreign currencies,
including U.S. Dollars, Euros, Chilean Pesos, Swiss
Francs, Chinese Yuan and Indian Rupees. Gains and
losses on foreign exchange transactions are immediately recognized in net earnings (loss).
The Company reported foreign exchange losses of
$8,354 in the fourth quarter of 2012 compared to gains
of $161,022 in the fourth quarter of 2011. In addition
there were gains on derivatives of $14,150 in the fourth
quarter of 2012 as compared to losses of $86,427 in the
fourth quarter of 2011. During 2012 the Company reported foreign exchange losses of $184,608 compared
to foreign exchange gains of $102,217 for the same
period in 2011. For the year ended November 30, 2012,
the Company reported gains on derivatives of $38,800
for 2012 compared to losses of $88,087 for 2011. Accounts receivable, accounts payable and cash balances
which are primarily denominated in U.S. dollars, are in a
net U.S. dollar asset position at the end of the year.
A portion of the foreign exchange gains and losses
relate to un-hedged foreign currency transactions
reported by the Company’s subsidiaries. From time to
time, the Company may hedge a portion of its future
U.S. dollar cash flow and management continues to

assess options to mitigate this risk. At November 30,
2012 the Company had no forward currency contracts
in place.
The Company’s sensitivity to foreign currency fluctuations is disclosed in note 16 to the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended November 30,
2012.
Foreign exchange gains or losses arising on consolidation of the Company’s subsidiaries in Chile and India
and its equity investment in XPCT in China are recorded
as accumulated other comprehensive income (loss),
which is a component of shareholders’ equity, rather
than earnings (loss). During the fourth quarter, the unrealized foreign currency translation gain on the consolidation of these investments totaled $43,185 compared
to a loss of $141,253 for the same period in 2011. For
the year ended November 30, 2012, the unrealized
foreign currency translation on the consolidation of
these investments resulted in loss of $38,798 compared
to loss of $397,027 for the same period in 2011 (see
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’
Equity).
XPCT
The Company owns a 50% equity interest in XPCT, an
ITS products and service provider in China. For the
year ended November 30, 2012 the Company reported
earnings of $378,507 from XPCT, primarily all of which
was earned in the fourth quarter. XPCT recorded positive gains on completion of a significant traffic systems
project plus continued and growing profits in its wire
harness business unit which supplies products to
heavy construction equipment businesses owned or
controlled by the Company’s partner in XPCT. These
results represent a marked improvement from the prior
year, which reflected earnings of $37,688.
The carrying value of the investment was reduced by
dividends received during 2012 of $159,710
(2011 - $149,985). In addition a decline in the value of
the Chinese currency further reduced the investment by
$124,888 on translation to the Canadian dollar. As outlined in the Company’s accounting policies, this amount
is charged against other comprehensive income (loss),
a component of shareholders’ equity.

Depreciation Expense
Three Months Ended
November 30

Twelve Months Ended
November 30

2012
2011
2012
Depreciation expense:				
Cost of goods sold
$ 138,399
$ 224,431
$ 420,583
Administrative and marketing expenses
66,407
56,075
210,833
$ 204,806
$ 280,506
$ 631,416

2011
$
$

598,218
316,315
914,533

Depreciation expense decreased during fiscal 2012 as a result of the sale of the Company’s head office and manufacturing facility in Saskatoon in the second quarter of 2011 and certain assets being fully depreciated.
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Income Taxes
Three Months Ended
November 30
Current income tax expense
Deferred income tax recovery

2012
301,589
(159,977)
$ 141,612
$

Due to continuing losses in the Company’s Indian subsidiary and the uncertainty that sufficient future earnings
will be generated to offset these tax losses prior to their
expiry, no provision for income tax recovery has been
recorded for the years ended November 30, 2012 and
2011. As a result, the consolidated effective tax rate
is abnormally high and not representative of statutory
rates effective in the jurisdictions in which the Company
operates. In addition, the effective tax rate can vary
from the expected tax rate applied to earnings (loss)
before income taxes as a result of different rates of tax
on foreign income and the inclusion in earnings (loss)
before income taxes of equity earnings or losses and
foreign currency translation gains or losses on consolidation of foreign subsidiaries.

$
$

Twelve Months Ended
November 30

2011
578,879
(50,447)
528,432

2012
506,221
(208,628)
$ 297,593

2011
$ 706,976
(692,009)
$
14,967

$

of investment tax credits available to reduce Canadian
income taxes in future years compared to $2,856,573 of
investment tax credits available at November 30, 2011.
Net Loss
During the fourth quarter of 2012 the Company recorded a net loss of $(747,550) or $(0.06) per share, basic
and diluted, compared to a net loss of $(2,079,226)
or $(0.15) per share, basic and diluted, for the fourth
quarter of 2011. Net loss was $(647,458) or $(0.05) per
share, basic and diluted, for the year ended November 30, 2012 compared to a net loss of $(3,476,518)
or $(0.25) per share, basic and diluted, for the same
period in 2011. The effect of outstanding options at
November 30, 2012 is not dilutive to loss per share.

At November 30, 2012 the Company had $2,837,134
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Cash Flows and Capital Expenditures
The Company’s net cash and cash equivalents position was stable at $1,157,498 at November 30, 2012 compared
to $917,161 at November 30, 2011. The Company’s principal sources of capital are cash flows from operations and
borrowings under its bank credit facilities. The Company’s principal uses of cash are for financing of working capital,
capital expenditures and debt repayments.

Cash flows from operating activities before
changes in other operating items1
$
Changes in other operating items
Operating cash flows
Investing cash flows
Financing cash flows
Increase in cash and cash equivalents
$
1
See Non-IFRS Measures				

Twelve Months Ended
November 30

2012

2012

2011

(165,815)
(53,794)
(219,609)
20,130
426,340
226,861

Cash flows used in operating activities before changes
in other operating items were $165,815 in the fourth
quarter of 2012 compared to a decline of $61,922 in
the same quarter of 2011. On a year-to-date basis, the
Company generated cash of $1,178,557 in 2012 compared to a use of cash of $1,689,940 in the prior year.
The significant improvement in cash flows is primarily
the result of the improved gross margins in fiscal 2012.
Other Operating Items
The change in other operating items used $53,794 in
cash flow for the fourth quarter of 2012 compared to a
provision of $1,508,347 for the fourth quarter of 2011.

10

Three Months Ended
November 30

$

(61,922)
1,508,347
1,446,425
(168,129)
(1,125,400)
$ 152,896

$

1,178,557
565,059
1,743,616
(5,435)
(1,532,055)
$
206,126

2011
$

$

(1,689,940)
240,799
(1,449,141)
6,397,675
(4,662,571)
285,963

During the fourth quarter of 2012 cash was generated
from increased collections of accounts receivable, a
reduction in inventories as well as an increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The year-to-date
change in other operating items generated $565,059
in cash in 2012, compared to $240,799 in 2011. The
primary contributor to the increased cash flows in other
operating items for 2012 was a reduction in inventories
and an increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities offset by an increase in accounts receivable.
Investing
During the year ended November 30, 2012, the Compa-

ny received a dividend from XPCT of $159,710 (2011 $149,985). In addition, the Company realized proceeds
from sales of property, plant and equipment of $62,883,
offset by capital additions in the year of $228,028 (2011
- $295,335). Current year additions consisted primarily
of routine replacements of computer assets, vehicles
and other manufacturing assets. In 2011, the primary
source of funds from investing activities occurred on
sale of land and building in a sale/leaseback transaction
which generated proceeds of $6,543,025.

mately $843,000) with HDFC Bank Limited, secured
by a Letter of Guarantee from RBC and guaranteed by
Export Development Canada (EDC).

Financing

Financial Instruments

The Company used cash flows generated from operations and investing activities to pay $467,521 in interest
obligations (2011 - $542,134) and to reduce long-term
debt by $1,081,867 (2011 - $4,946,367). As at November 30, 2012, the Company has fully settled all
long-term debt obligations. In 2011, the Company used
proceeds on sale of its Saskatoon head office to repay
outstanding long-term debt.

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash
and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, unbilled revenue, short-term loans, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, long-term debt and foreign exchange hedging contracts. The financial instruments are exposed
primarily to three types of risk: credit risk; currency
fluctuation risk, interest rate risk, and liquidity risk. For
a more complete explanation of these risks refer to note
16 in the audited consolidated financial statements.

Capital Resources
The Company’s objective when managing capital is to
safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. The Company
manages the capital structure with a mix of debt and
equity and makes adjustments to it in light of changes
in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of
the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Company may assume more
debt, issue new share, purchase and cancel shares
previously issued, return capital to shareholders or sell
assets to reduce debt.
As at November 30, 2012 working capital balances
amounted to $7,003,243 (2011 - $7,430,226) representing a working capital ratio of 1.45 (2011 – 1.50). To support ongoing operating working capital requirements,
the Company maintains an $8.5 million line of credit
with RBC for its operations in Canada and the United
States, which is secured by a general security agreement. The Company also maintains a line of credit
in the amount of 46.7 million Indian Rupees (approxi-

The Company has an additional credit facility of $1.5
million US (2011 - $1.0 million US) with RBC that is
guaranteed by EDC for the support of performance
guarantees provided by the Company’s subsidiaries. At
November 30, 2012 performance guarantees totaling
$459,362 CDN are outstanding under this credit facility.

At November 30, 2012, the carrying value of cash and
cash equivalents, accounts receivable, unbilled revenue, short term loans, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, approximates fair value due to their short-term
maturities. However, the Company is exposed to interest rate cash flow risk on its credit facilities. In addition,
at November 30, 2012 no amounts of borrowings are on
a fixed rate basis.
Realized and unrealized gains and losses on all foreign
exchange contracts are recognized in profit and loss at
the end of each reporting period.
Derivative financial instruments are utilized by the
Company to reduce exposure to fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates. The Company may enter into
foreign exchange contracts to hedge anticipated cash
flows denominated in a foreign currency.
The Company has elected not to follow hedge accounting and all derivative contracts are marked to market
with resulting net gains or losses recognized in the
statement of loss.

Contractual Obligations
As at November 30, 2012, the Company has identified the following contractual obligations:
Debt
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Leases

Total
6,575,722
6,138,825
6,004,144
$ 18,718,691
$

Less than 1 year
1 - 3 years
$ 6,575,722
$
6,138,825
579,000
1,158,000
$ 13,293,547
$ 1,158,000

$

4 - 5 years
-

$

Thereafter
-

$

1,158,000
1,158,000

$

3,109,144
3,109,144

Debt amounts comprise short-term operating credits with it bankers, as described more fully in note 7 in the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements. These debts have no fixed terms of payment but are payable upon
demand.
Leases represent annual lease obligations of $579,000 extending out to 2023 related to rental of the Company’s
Saskatoon premises.
As at November 30, 2012, management believes that the Company has adequate liquidity to meet its contractual
obligations.
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Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
As at November 30, 2012 the Company has identified
the following off balance sheet arrangements:
•

Operating lease commitments as described above,
and

•

A loan guarantee in the amount of 7.5 million Yuan
(approximately $1.2 million) for 50% of a bank loan
to XPCT representing the Company’s proportionate
interest in this entity.

As at November 30, 2012 there were no derivative financial instruments outstanding.

carrying values of the Company’s long-lived assets and
equity accounted investments relative to recoverable
amounts. In assessing recoverability of long-lived
assets, judgment is required in the determination
of the appropriate grouping of assets that generate
cash inflows or cash generating units (CGUs). The
determination of CGUs is based on management’s assessment of independence of revenue earned, operating asset utilization, shared infrastructure, geographic
proximity and similarity of risk exposures. Assessments
of recoverability for both long-lived assets and equity
accounted investments are typically dependent upon
future cash flow estimates and assumptions such as future revenue and costs, sustaining capital requirements
and discount rates.

OUTSTANDING SHARE AND OPTION DATA
Deferred Taxes and Investment Tax Credits
At November 30, 2012 and November 30, 2011 the
Company had 13,998,337 common shares outstanding. During the years ended November 30, 2012 and
November 30, 2011 no shares were issued by the
Company. There has been no change in the number of
outstanding shares between November 30, 2012 and
February 27, 2013.
At November 30, 2012 the Company had 1,775,000
share purchase options outstanding entitling the holders to purchase one common share for each option
held at a weighted average exercise price of $0.64 per
share expiring on various dates up to February 28, 2019.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
In the preparation of the audited consolidated financial
statements, various estimates are required, which are
either subjective, could be materially different under
different conditions or using different assumptions, or
which require complex judgments. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are as follows:
Stage of Completion of Contracted Projects
In recording contracted project revenue, the Company
makes estimates of the stage of completion of each
project by comparing the actual costs incurred to the
total estimated costs of the project. Estimates are
also involved in accounting for the relative fair values
of the components of a project contract that contains
a service arrangement. These estimates are subject
to change which would impact the timing of revenue
recognition.
Financial Assets
Assessments about the recoverability of financial
assets, including accounts receivable and unbilled
revenue, require judgment as to whether a loss event
has occurred and estimates of the amounts and timing
of future cash flows.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
Judgments and estimates are required in assessing the
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The Company operates in a number of tax jurisdictions
and is, therefore, required to estimate its income taxes
in each of these tax jurisdictions in preparing its consolidated financial statements. The Company is also
engaged in scientific research and development giving
rise to investment tax credits that may be refundable or
available to reduce future taxes payable in certain jurisdictions. In calculating income taxes and investment
tax credits consideration is given to factors such as
current and future tax rates in the different jurisdictions,
non-deductible expenses, qualifying expenditures and
changes in tax law. In addition the Company must assess the ability of the Company to realize deferred taxes
and investment tax credits reported as assets based on
management’s expectations of future taxable income in
the related jurisdiction.
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Company’s audited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB). These are the Company’s first annual
audited consolidated financial statements prepared in
accordance with IFRS, and IFRS 1, First-time Annual
Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
has been applied. An explanation of how the transition
to IFRS has affected the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company is provided in note 21.
The most significant change affecting the consolidated
statements involved the deemed cost election on buildings on IFRS transition and the impact of the sale of the
Company’s head office and manufacturing facility in
2011, as described more fully in note 21 in the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements.
Future Changes
The Company has assessed new standards and
interpretations not yet adopted and determined that
they will not have a significant impact on the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company in
the upcoming year.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
In addition to the risks relating to financial instruments
identified in note 16 of the audited consolidated financial statements as of November 30, 2012, the Company
is subject to the following primary business risks.
Technology Risk
The Company operates in the rapidly changing environment of high technology. It faces competition from
some companies with greater financial resources and
larger marketing organizations. All companies in this
industry are subject to competition and technological
advances which can render existing products obsolete
or unmarketable.
IRD mitigates this risk through an active program of
research and development that helps to ensure that its
products and systems are technologically current and
continue to meet customers’ evolving requirements.
Future operating results will depend upon IRD’s ability
to research, develop and market its current products
and those under development.
Government Program Funding Risk
The majority of IRD’s revenues are generated as a
result of the desire of transportation agencies around
the world to monitor traffic volumes and trends, manage
traffic, enforce weight regulations and to appropriately
charge vehicle operators for the use of their roads.
While the relative importance of this need makes IRD’s
market secure in the long run, periodic softness in
this market occurs during economic recessions or as
governments adjust their spending priorities for political reasons. In particular since more than half of the
Company’s revenues are derived from the U.S. market,
future results may be affected by changes in U.S. Government programs.
To mitigate reliance on the U.S. market, the Company
has diversified its customer base thereby becoming
less dependent on any single government or region. In
particular this has been achieved by acquisition of PAT
Traffic in 2003 which increased its presence in Eurasia
and Latin America, and the establishment of IRD South
Asia Pvt. Ltd. in India in 2005 which expanded its markets in South Asia. In December 2007 the Company
acquired a 50% interest in Xuzhou-PAT Control Technologies Limited in order to expand its presence in the
growing Chinese market. IRD has also diversified its
product offering to include more technologies, such as
in-vehicle management – GPS systems for use in commercial, municipal and city markets.
The Company is also diversifying its markets and
products so that it relies less on government funded
projects.
Operational Risk
The Company has business interests and operations in
many countries worldwide. Operations may be affected
by changes in government or government regulation

or priorities, civil unrest, terrorism, military action, corruption, cultural norms, access to capital, changing
technologies and competition.
DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Management has designed disclosure controls and
procedures, or has caused them to be designed under
its supervision, to provide reasonable assurance that
material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
management by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which the interim filings are being
prepared. Management has evaluated the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of
November 30, 2012.
Based on the evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer have concluded they are
able to certify that the disclosure controls and procedures were effective.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Internal control over financial reporting is designed to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards. Management is responsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting for the Company.
At November 30, 2012, an evaluation was carried out
of the effectiveness of internal controls over financial
reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and financial statement compliance with International Financial Reporting
Standards.
Based on the evaluation, the Chief Executive officer and
Chief Financial officer have concluded they are able to
certify that the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting was effective.
However, management considers it appropriate to provide additional disclosure regarding the operation of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
During the 2010 fiscal year certain potential material
weaknesses in internal control were identified within
the Company’s subsidiaries in India and Chile. These
subsidiaries lacked personnel with sufficient expertise
to complete appropriate accounting reconciliations
and reviews. The Company’s subsidiary in India lacked
appropriate internal control processes in the areas of
records management, project accounting and inventory management. The Company’s subsidiary in Chile
lacked appropriate reconciliation and review processes
with respect to inventory management.
In the 2011 fiscal year, management initiated a plan
to enhance the training and level of resources in its
subsidiaries in response to the potential material
weaknesses in internal control identified above. As of
November 30, 2012, progress had been made on the
remediation plan but the identified weaknesses have
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can only provide reasonable, not absolute assurance,
that all internal control issues that may result in material
misstatement, if any, have been detected.

not yet been fully remedied. Implementation of the
remediation plan will continue throughout the 2013
fiscal year. In addition, management has developed
an enhanced oversight program at its head office to
monitor the subsidiary operations, including additional
compensating controls to ensure adequate oversight
of all international operations. Management is of the
opinion that none of these control deficiencies resulted
in a material misstatement of the financial statements as
at November 30, 2012.

The transition from Canadian GAAP to IFRS has resulted in various accounting process changes. Our internal and disclosure control processes have not required
significant modification as a result of our adoption of
IFRS. While there were no control deficiencies identified other than the changes noted above relating to lack
of expertise within our subsidiary companies and the
parent company review of its subsidiaries in India and
Chile there were no changes in the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter
ended November 30, 2012 that have materially affected,
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, internal
control over financial reporting.

Management’s evaluations were conducted in accordance with the standards of COSO (Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission) for Smaller Public Companies, a recognized
control model, and the requirements of National
Instrument 52-109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’
Annual and Interim Filings of the Canadian Securities
Administrators. Management’s evaluation of controls
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

The following selected financial information (in $000’s except earnings (loss) per share) is derived from the Company’s annual audited consolidated financial statements:
IFRS
Revenue
EBITDA*
Net earnings (loss)
Earnings (loss) per share - basic & diluted
Total assets
Total long-term financial liabilities

$

$

IFRS

2012
41,577
749
(647)
(0.05)
32,565
-

$

$

CGAAP**

2011
39,099
(2,005)
(3,477)
(0.25)
32,720
1,082

$

$

2010
44,475
2,300
450
0.03
39,185
6,328

* See Non-IFRS Measures
** CGAAP refers to Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

SELECTED QUARTERLY RESULTS
Following is a table of operating results (in $000’s except for earnings (loss) per share) for the eight most recently
completed quarters. Quarterly operating results may fluctuate throughout any fiscal year and not be comparable sequentially, or to same quarter prior year results, due to a number of factors including the timing of significant product
deliveries, the impact of seasonal weather conditions on project installation schedules, and the fact that the timing
and completion of projects is often at the discretion of construction contractors and customers.
2012
Revenue
EBITDA1
Net earnings (loss)
“Earnings (loss) per share basic & diluted”
1
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See Non-IFRS Measures

Q4
Q3
$ 10,962 $ 11,126
(257)
828
(747)
378
(0.05)

0.03

Q2
$ 10,573
518
235

Q1
$ 8,916
(340)
(513)

0.02

(0.04)

2011
Q4
Q3
Q2
Q1
$ 9,346 $ 10,119 $ 10,717 $ 8,916
(1,159)
510
(983)
(373)
(2,079)
173
(879)
(692)
(0.15)

0.01

(0.06)

(0.05)

NON-IFRS MEASURES
Throughout this Management Discussion and Analysis
the Company uses terms not found in the Handbook
of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants
and which do not have a standardized meaning under
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) or
Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(CGAAP), therefore the following definitions are provided:
EBITDA
“EBITDA” means earnings before interest, income
taxes, depreciation and amortization and includes gains
or losses from foreign exchange and derivatives and

earnings or losses from the Company’s equity accounted investments. Management believes that EBITDA is a
useful supplemental measure to net earnings (loss), as
it provides investors with an indication of operating performance prior to debt service, capital expenditures and
income taxes. Investors should be cautioned, however,
that EBITDA should not be construed as an alternative
to net earnings (loss) determined in accordance with
IFRS, as an indicator of the Company’s performance or
to cash flows from operating, investing and financing
activities as a measure of liquidity and cash flows. The
Company’s method of calculating EBITDA may differ
from the methods by which other companies calculate
EBITDA and, accordingly, EBITDA may not be comparable to measures used by other companies.

The following is a reconciliation of EBITDA to net loss:
Three Months Ended
November 30

EBITDA
$
Depreciation expense		
Interest expense		
Income tax expense		
Net loss
$

2012
2011
(257,716) $ (1,159,282)
$
(204,806)		 (280,506)		
(143,416)		 (111,006)		
(141,612)		 (528,432)		
(747,550) $ (2,079,226)
$

Twelve Months Ended
November 30
2012
2011
(749,072
$ (2,004,884)
(631,416)		
(914,533)
(467,521)		
(542,134)
(297,593)		
(14,967)
(647,458)
$ (3,476,518)

Cash Flows from (used in) Operating Activities before Changes in Other Operating Items
Cash flows from (used in) operating activities before changes in other operating items means net earnings (loss) adjusted for items not affecting cash. Management believes that “cash flows from operating activities before changes in
other operating items” is a useful measure of cash flows from operations excluding the normal business fluctuations
in the levels of other operating items. See note 19 to the audited consolidated financial statements.
Certain statements contained in this report constitute
forward-looking information within the meaning of
securities laws. Implicit in this information, particularly
in respect of the Company’s future operating results
and economic performance, are assumptions regarding
projected revenues and expenses. These assumptions,
although considered reasonable by the Company at the
time of preparation, may prove to be incorrect. Readers
are cautioned that the Company’s actual future operating results and economic performance are subject to
a number of risks and uncertainties, including general
economic, market and business conditions, and could
differ materially from what is currently expected. For
more extensive information on these risks and uncer-

tainties, please refer to the most recently filed Annual
Information Form, which is available at www.sedar.com.
Forward-looking information contained in this report is
based on management’s current estimates, expectations and projections, which management believes are
reasonable as of February 27, 2013. The reader should
not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements
and should not rely upon this information as of any other
date. While the Company may elect to, it is under no obligation and does not undertake to update this information at any particular time, unless required by applicable
securities law.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT
To the Shareholders of International Road Dynamics Inc.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board. Management is responsible for ensuring that these consolidated financial statements,
which include amounts based on estimates and judgment, are consistent with information
disclosed elsewhere in the annual report and reflect the Company’s business transactions and
financial position.
Management is also responsible for the information disclosed in the management’s discussion
and analysis, including responsibility for the existence of an appropriate information system,
procedures and controls to ensure that the information used by management internally and disclosed externally is complete and reliable. In addition, management is responsible for establishing and maintaining an adequate system of internal control over financial reporting to provide
reasonable assurance that the financial records provide relevant, reliable and accurate information.
The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibility for
internal control and financial reporting. The Directors exercise this responsibility through the
Audit Committee. This committee, which is comprised of non-employee Directors, meets with
management and the external auditor to satisfy itself that management has properly performed
its financial reporting responsibilities and to review the consolidated financial statements before
they are presented to the Directors for approval. These consolidated financial statements have
been approved by the Board of Directors as recommended by the Audit Committee.
KPMG LLP, an independent firm of Chartered Accountants, has been engaged to examine the
consolidated financial statements and provide their independent auditors’ report thereon.

Terry Bergan
President and
Chief Executive Officer

David Cortens
Vice President Finance and
Chief Financial Officer

Saskatoon, Canada
February 27, 2013
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Shareholders of International Road Dynamics Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of International Road
Dynamics Inc., which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at November
30, 2012, November 30, 2011 and December 1, 2010, the consolidated statements of loss, comprehensive loss, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years ended November
30, 2012 and November 30, 2011, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on
our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of International Road Dynamics Inc. as at November 30, 2012,
November 30, 2011 and December 1, 2010, and its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the years ended November 30, 2012 and November 30, 2011 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants
February 27, 2013
Saskatoon, Canada
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INTERNATIONAL ROAD DYNAMICS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

November 30, 2012, November 30, 2011 and December 1, 2010
($ Canadian)
			
2012		
					
Assets

2011		
(Note 21)		

2010
(Note 21)

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
$
1,157,498
$
917,161
$
667,724
Accounts receivable (note 16)		 10,945,984		 9,672,204		 11,079,295
Unbilled revenue (note 16)		
3,739,866		 3,868,862		
4,025,218
Income taxes receivable		
49,397		
312,727		
347,442
Inventory (note 4)		
5,913,184		 6,873,808		
7,187,770
Prepaid expenses and deposits		
643,509		
784,963		
601,811
		
$ 22,449,438
$ 22,429,725
$ 23,909,260
Property, plant and equipment (note 5)		
1,575,860		 2,033,583		
9,308,836
Investment in XPCT (note 6) 		
4,875,618		 4,781,709		
5,118,780
Investment tax credits recoverable (note 9)		
2,837,134		 2,856,573		
3,267,486
Deferred income tax asset (note 9)		
827,184		
618,556		
		
$ 32,565,234
$ 32,720,146
$ 41,604,362
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Short-term loans (note 7)
$
6,575,722
$
6,558,389
$
5,732,459
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities		
6,138,825		 5,205,917		
5,360,417
Current portion of deferred revenue		
2,731,648		 2,332,143		
2,500,007
Current portion of long-term debt (note 8)		
–		
903,000		
6,328,234
$ 15,446,195
$ 14,999,449
$ 19,921,117
Deferred revenue		
Long-term debt (note 8)		
Deferred income tax liability (note 9)		

569,458		
–		
–		

324,674		
178,867		
– 		

535,404
–
73,453

Shareholders’ equity:
Share capital (note 11)		 12,071,009		 12,071,009		 12,071,009
Contributed surplus		
281,581		
262,900		
246,587
Retained earnings		
4,274,898		 4,922,356		
8,398,874
Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss)		
(77,907)		
(39,109)		
357,918
			 16,549,581		 17,217,156		 21,074,388
		
$ 32,565,234
$ 32,720,146
$ 41,604,362
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the Board:

Terry Bergan, Director

Ray Harris, Director
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INTERNATIONAL ROAD DYNAMICS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Loss

Years ended November 30, 2012 and 2011
($ Canadian)
		
			

2012		
(note 21)		

2011
(note 21)

Revenue (note 10)
$ 41,577,313
$
Cost of goods sold		 29,318,318		
Gross margin		 12,258,995		

39,098,503
30,066,609
9,031,894

Administrative and marketing expenses		
Research and development, net (note 12)		
Financing costs (note 15)		
Other income		
XPCT earnings (note 6)		
Loss before income taxes 		

10,764,001		
1,289,029		
994,630		
(60,293)		
(378,507)		
(349,865)		

10,000,730
1,005,553
1,574,394
(49,544)
(37,688)
(3,461,551)

Income tax expense (note 9)		

297,593		

14,967

Net loss

$

(647,458)

$

(3,476,518)

Loss per share (note 14)
Basic
Diluted

$
$

(0.05)
(0.05)

$
$

(0.25)
(0.25)

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

Years ended November 30, 2012 and 2011
($ Canadian)
			
Net loss (note 21)
$
Other comprehensive loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations		

(647,458)

Total comprehensive income (loss)

(686,256)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2012		

$

2011

$

(3,476,518)

(38,798)		

(397,027)

$

(3,873,545)

INTERNATIONAL ROAD DYNAMICS INC.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
($ Canadian)
				
					
		
Share
Contributed
Retained
Note
capital
surplus
earnings

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
income (loss)

Total
shareholders
equity

Balance at December 1, 2010
21
$ 12,071,009
$ 246,587
$ 8,398,874
$ 357,918
$ 21,074,388
Net loss			
-		
-		 (3,476,518)		
-		 (3,476,518)
Other comprehensive loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations		
-		
-		 (397,027)		
(397,027)
Share-based compensation
11(c)		
-		 16,313		
-		
-		
16,313
Balance at November 30, 2011		
$ 12,071,009
$ 262,900
$ 4,922,356
$ (39,109)
$ 17,217,156
Balance at December 1, 2011		
$ 12,071,009
$ 262,900
$ 4,922,356
$ (39,109)
$ 17,217,156
Net loss			
-		
-		 (647,458)		
-		
(647,458)
Other comprehensive loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations		
-		
-		 (38,798)		
(38,798)
Share-based compensation
11(c)		
-		 18,681		
-		
-		
18,681
Balance at November 30, 2012		
$ 12,071,009
$ 281,581
$ 4,274,898
$ (77,907)
$ 16,549,581
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) is comprised solely of exchange differences on translation of foreign operations, net of tax
of $nil.
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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INTERNATIONAL ROAD DYNAMICS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended November 30, 2012 and 2011
($ Canadian)

		
2012		
					
Cash flows from (used in):
Operations:
Net loss
$
Adjustments for:
Deferred revenue		
Depreciation expense (note 13)		
Bad debt expense (note 16)		
Share-based compensation (note 11)		
XPCT earnings (note 6)		
Interest expense (note 15)		
Loss (gain) on disposal
of property, plant and equipment		
Income tax expense (note 9)		
Income taxes received (paid)		
Investment tax credits		
Other operating items (note 19)		
			

$

(3,476,518)

644,289		
631,416		
381,301		
18,681		
(378,507)		
467,521		

(378,594)
914,533
905,867
16,313
(37,688)
542,134

(12,827)		
297,593		
(43,190)		
(180,262)		
565,059		
1,743,616		

70,394
14,967
(22,798)
(238,550)
240,799
(1,449,141)

Investing:
Dividend received from XPCT (note 6)		
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment		
Additions to property, plant and equipment		
			
Financing:
Interest paid		
Short-term loans		
Repayment of long-term debt		
			

159,710		
62,883		
(228,028)		
(5,435)		

149,985
6,543,025
(295,335)
6,397,675

(467,521)		
17,333		
(1,081,867)		
(1,532,055)		

(542,134)
825,930
(4,946,367)
(4,662,571)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents		

206,126		

285,963

Exchange rate changes on foreign currency cash balances		

34,211		

(36,526)

Cash and cash equivalents, balance beginning of year		

917,161		

667,724

Cash and cash equivalents, balance end of year
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(647,458)

2011
(note 21)

$

1,157,498

$

917,161

INTERNATIONAL ROAD DYNAMICS INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Years ended November 30, 2012 and 2011
($ Canadian, except as noted)
1.

Reporting entity
International Road Dynamics Inc. is incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act. The address of its registered office is
702 43rd Street East, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, Canada, S7K 3T9. The consolidated financial statements as at and for the years ended
November 30, 2012 and 2011 comprise International Road Dynamics Inc. and its subsidiaries (together the “Company”) and the Company’s investment in Xuzhou-PAT Control Technologies Limited (“XPCT”). The Company is a highway traffic management technology
company specializing in supplying products and integrated systems to the global Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) industry. The
Company’s common shares are traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol IRD.

2.

Basis of preparation
(a)

Statement of compliance
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). These are the Company’s first annual consolidated
financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS, and IFRS 1, First-time annual Adoption of International Financial Reporting
Standards has been applied.
An explanation of how the transition to IFRS has affected the consolidated financial statements of the Company is provided in note
21.
These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on February 27, 2013.

(b)

Basis of presentation
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for derivative instruments at fair
value through profit and loss.
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue
and expenses and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated financial statements. Actual
results may vary from these estimates.
Estimates, judgments and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are as follows:
(i)

Stage of completion of contracted projects
In recording contracted project revenue, the Company makes estimates of the stage of completion of each project by comparing the actual costs incurred to the total estimated costs of the project. Estimates are also involved in accounting for the
relative fair values of the components of a project contract that contains a service arrangement. These estimates are subject
to change which would impact the timing of revenue recognition.

(ii)

Financial assets
Assessments about the recoverability of financial assets, including accounts receivable and unbilled revenue, require judgment as to whether a loss event has occurred and estimates of the amounts and timing of future cash flows.

(iii)

Impairment of long-lived assets
Judgments and estimates are required in assessing the carrying values of the Company’s long-lived assets and equity accounted investments relative to recoverable amounts.
In assessing recoverability of long-lived assets, judgment is required in the determination of the appropriate grouping of
assets that generate cash inflows or cash generating units (CGUs). The determination of CGUs is based on management’s
assessment of independence of revenue earned, operating asset utilization, shared infrastructure, geographic proximity and
similarity of risk exposures.
Assessments of recoverability for both long-lived assets and equity accounted investments are typically dependent upon
future cash flow estimates and assumptions such as future revenue and costs, sustaining capital requirements and discount
rates.

(iv) Deferred taxes and investment tax credits
The Company operates in a number of tax jurisdictions and is, therefore, required to estimate its income taxes in each of
these tax jurisdictions in preparing its consolidated financial statements. The Company is also engaged in scientific research
and development giving rise to investment tax credits that may be refundable or available to reduce future taxes payable in
certain jurisdictions. In calculating income taxes and investment tax credits consideration is given to factors such as current
and future tax rates in the different jurisdictions, non-deductible expenses, qualifying expenditures and changes in tax law. In
addition the Company must assess the ability of the Company to realize deferred taxes and investment tax credits reported
as assets based on management’s expectations of future taxable income in the related jurisdiction.
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3.

Significant accounting policies:
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by all reporting entities of the Company and to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements and in preparing the opening IFRS statement of financial position at December 1, 2010
for the purposes of the transition to IFRS, unless otherwise indicated.
(a)

Basis of consolidation
(i)

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company and include the following wholly-owned entities: PAT Traffic Limitada,
International Road Dynamics Corporation and International Road Dynamics South Asia Pvt. Ltd.
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries are consistent with the policies adopted by
the Company.

(ii)

Equity accounted investments
Investments over which the Company is able to exercise significant influence are accounted for using the equity method
whereby the investments are initially recorded at cost. The investments are increased or decreased to reflect the Company’s
proportionate share of the earnings or losses and equity movements of the investees, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the Company, from the date that significant influence or joint control commences until the date that
significant influence or joint control ceases. When the Company’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted
investee, the carrying amount of that interest, including any long-term investments, is reduced to nil, and the recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Company has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of
the investee.
The Company has one equity accounted investment in Xuzhou-PAT Control Technologies Limited (XPCT).

(iii)

Business combinations
As part of its transition to IFRS, the Company elected, under IFRS 1, not to restate those business combinations that occurred prior to December 1, 2010.

(iv) Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Inter-company balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from inter-company transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealized gains arising from transactions with
equity accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Company’s interest in the investee.
Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.
(b)

Foreign currency
(i)

Foreign currency transactions
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at exchange rates prevailing at the financial reporting date and non-monetary items are translated at rates of exchange in effect when assets were
acquired or obligations incurred. Revenue and expenses are translated into Canadian dollars using the average monthly rate
of exchange on the date of the transactions. The resulting gains or losses are included in the consolidated statement of loss.

(ii)

Foreign operations
The functional currency of the Company’s subsidiary in Chile - PAT Traffic Limitada is the Chilean Peso and the functional
currency of its subsidiary in India - International Road Dynamics South Asia Pvt. Ltd. is the Indian Rupee. All assets and
liabilities are translated to Canadian dollars at exchange rates in effect at the financial reporting date and all revenue and
expenses are translated into Canadian dollars using the average monthly rate of exchange of the date of the transactions.
Exchange gains and losses arising from this translation, representing the net unrealized foreign currency translation gain
(loss) on the Company’s investment, are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).
The functional currency of the Company’s equity investment in XPCT is the Chinese Yuan. Goodwill and purchase adjustments to reflect the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at date of acquisition are treated as though they
were included in the XPCT financial statements. The financial statements of XPCT, including the adjustments to reflect the
fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, are translated to Canadian dollars at exchange rates in effect at the
financial reporting date and all revenue and expenses are translated into Canadian dollars using the approximate rate of
exchange on the date of the transactions. Exchange gains and losses arising from this translation, representing the net
unrealized foreign currency translation gain (loss) on the Company’s investment, are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).
When a foreign operation is disposed of, the relevant amount in accumulated other comprehensive income is transferred
to the consolidated statement of loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. On the partial disposal of a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the relevant proportion of such cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling interest. In
any other partial disposal of a foreign operation, the relevant proportion is reclassified to the consolidated statement of loss.
Foreign exchange gains or losses arising from a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation, the settlement of which is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future and which in substance is considered to form
part of the net investment in the foreign operation, are recognized in other comprehensive income (loss).
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3.

Significant accounting policies - continued:
(c)

Revenue recognition
(i)

Contracted projects
The majority of sales of integrated systems are delivered as contracted projects. Contract revenue includes the initial
amount agreed in the contract plus any amendments in contract work to the extent that it is probable they will result in
revenue and can be reliably measured. Revenue from contracted projects is recorded in accordance with the stage of
completion of the contract by comparing the actual costs incurred to the total estimated costs for the project. An expected
loss on a contract is recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of loss.
Unbilled revenue represents the excess of contract costs incurred and estimated gross profits recognized over billings to
date. If progress billings exceed costs incurred plus recognized gross profits, then the difference is presented as deferred
revenue in the consolidated statement of financial position.

(ii)

Product sales
Revenue from the sale of goods in the course of ordinary activities is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable. Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence exists, that the significant risks and rewards of ownership
have been transferred to the buyer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return of
goods can be estimated reliably, there is no continuing management involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue
can be measured reliably.
The timing of the transfers of risks and rewards varies depending on the individual terms of the contract of sale. For sales of
products, transfer usually occurs when the product is received at the customer’s warehouse. For some international shipments, when the buyer has no right of return, transfer occurs upon loading the goods onto the relevant carrier at the port of
the seller.

(iii)

Services
Revenue from service obligations is recognized in accordance with the stage of completion of the service arrangement by
comparing the actual costs incurred to the total estimated costs for the service. An expected loss on a service arrangement
is recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of loss.
Service arrangements may be included in a project contract. When projects and services are sold under a single arrangement, each component is accounted for separately. The allocation of consideration from a revenue arrangement to its
separate units of account is based on the relative fair values of each component.

(d)

Financial instruments
(i)

Financial assets
All financial assets are initially recorded at fair value. Subsequent measurement is dependent upon classification as one of
the following: financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, held-to-maturity financial assets, loans and receivables or
available-for-sale financial assets.
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are measured at fair value with gains and losses recognized in the
consolidated statement of loss.
Held-to-maturity financial assets and loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost, including transaction costs
using the effective interest method with amortization reported as a finance cost.
Available-for-sale instruments are measured at fair value with gains and losses, net of tax, recognized in other comprehensive income (loss).
The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or
retained by the Company is recognized as a separate asset or liability.
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only
when, the Company has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.
Financial assets of the Company consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and unbilled revenue.
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and deposits with original maturities of three months or less. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Company’s cash management are included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows.
Accounts receivable and unbilled revenue are classified as “loans and receivables”.

(ii)

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value net of any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition the Company’s financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The
Company has not designated any financial liabilities through profit and loss.
The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire.
The Company has the following non-derivative financial liabilities: accounts payable and accrued liabilities and short-term
loans.

(iii)

Share capital
Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares and share
options are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
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3.

Significant accounting policies - continued:
(iv) Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are utilized by the Company to reduce exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates. The Company may enter into foreign exchange contracts to hedge anticipated cash flows denominated in a foreign
currency.
The Company has elected not to follow hedge accounting and all derivative contracts are marked to market with resulting net
gains or losses recognized in the statement of loss.
Derivatives are carried at fair value and are reported as other receivables when they have a positive fair value and as accrued
liabilities when they have a negative fair value. Derivatives may also be embedded in other financial instruments. Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are valued as separate derivatives when their economic characteristics and
risks are not clearly and closely related to those of the host contract; the terms of the embedded derivative would meet the
definition of a derivative if it was a free standing instrument; and the combined contract is not held for trading or designated
at fair value.
(e)

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of average cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories is determined on the
weighted average basis. Cost includes the costs of acquired material plus, in the case of manufactured inventories, direct labour
applied to the product and the applicable share of manufacturing overhead, including rent expense and depreciation based on
normal operating capacity.
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and
selling expenses.

(f)

Property, plant and equipment
(i)

Recognition and measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.
Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets
includes the cost of materials and direct labour, borrowing costs (for self-constructed assets capitalized subsequent to
December 1, 2010) and any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to the location and condition necessary
for them to be capable of operating in a manner intended by management.
When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items
(major components) of property, plant and equipment.

(ii)

Depreciation
Depreciation is computed over the expected useful lives of the assets at 5% on buildings, 20% and 25% on office equipment
and manufacturing equipment respectively, 30% on automotive and computer equipment and 100% on computer software
based on the declining balance method. Depreciation methods and useful lives are reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.

(g)

Leased assets
Leases in which the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased assets are classified
as finance leases. Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the
present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the
accounting policy applicable to that asset.
Other leases are accounted for as operating leases. Operating lease payments are expensed in earnings (loss) and the leased assets are not recognized in the Company’s statement of financial position. All existing leases of the Company are operating leases.

(h)

Impairment
(i)

Financial assets
Financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss, comprised mainly of receivable and unbilled revenue, are
assessed at each financial reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. A financial asset
is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that
the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably. Objective
evidence can include default or delinquency by a debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Company on terms that the
Company would not consider otherwise, indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, or the disappearance of an
active market for a security.
In addition, for an investment in an equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of impairment.
An impairment loss is determined based on estimated future cash flows and is recognized in the consolidated statement of
loss. An impairment loss is reversed when a subsequent event causes an increase to the fair value of a financial asset.
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3.

Significant accounting policies - continued:
(ii)

Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets are reviewed at
each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to
sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose
of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of
assets (the “cash-generating unit, or CGU”).
Certain corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows. If there is an indication that a corporate asset may be
impaired, then the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the corporate asset belongs.
An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of loss. Impairment losses recognized in prior periods, excluding losses related to goodwill, are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no
longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.
Goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of an equity investment is not tested for impairment separately. Instead the
entire amount of the equity investment is tested for impairments as a single asset when there is objective evidence that the
investment is impaired.

(i)

Research and development costs:
The Company expenses research and development costs during the year in which they are incurred. Research and development
related investment tax credits are recognized as a reduction of related expenditures when the Company has reasonable assurance
that they will be utilized.

(j)

Employee benefits
(i)

Share-based compensation
The grant date fair value of share-based compensation awards granted to employees is recognized as an expense, with a
corresponding increase in contributed surplus, over the period that the employees unconditionally become entitled to the
awards. For awards with multiple vesting dates, the amount vested at each date of an award is considered a separate grant
with a different vesting date and fair value. The fair value is measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect expected forfeitures and service conditions not being met.

(ii)

Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is
provided.
A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee,
and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

(k)

Provisions
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognized as financing cost.
A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by the Company from a contract are
lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. The provision is measured at the present value of the
lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision
is established, the Company recognizes any impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract.

(l)

Financing costs
Financing costs comprise interest expense on short-term loans and long-term debt, foreign currency gains and loss, unwinding of
the discount on provisions, changes in the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
gains and losses on hedging instruments recognized through profit and loss and bad debt expense. Borrowing costs that are not
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognized in the consolidated statement
of loss using the effective interest method.
Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

27

3.

Significant accounting policies - continued:
(m) Income tax
Income tax expense (recovery) comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in the consolidated
statement of loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in other
comprehensive income.
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.
Deferred tax is recognized in respect of losses available for carry forward and temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is
not recognized for differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when
they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes
levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.
A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.
(n)

Earnings (loss) per share
The Company presents basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share (EPS) data for its common shares. Basic EPS is calculated
by dividing the profit or loss attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for own shares held. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss
attributable to common shareholders and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares
held, for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares, which comprise share options granted to employees.

(o)

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
The Company has assessed new standards and interpretations not yet adopted and determined that they will not have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Company in the upcoming year.

4.

Inventories:
		
Raw materials

$

2012		
465,469

$

2011		
705,223

$

2010
619,178

Original equipment manufacturer materials		

3,123,395		

3,080,285		

3,903,015

Work in process		

1,826,457		

1,713,575		

1,651,166

1,374,725		

1,014,411

6,873,808

7,187,770

Finished goods		
$

497,863		
5,913,184

$

$

During the year, inventories expensed within cost of goods sold were $19,405,527
(2011 - $20,254,245). The Company also recorded an incremental provision for excess and obsolete inventories within cost of goods
sold of $576,341 (2011 - $551,134).
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5.

Property, plant and equipment:

		 Land and 		
Office
		 buildings		 equipment

Manufacturing		Automotive		 Computer		 Computer
equipment		 equipment		 equipment		 software		

Cost
Balance at
December 1, 2010

$ 2,743,042

$ 6,866,483

Additions		

$ 1,035,888

Total

$ 1,424,269

$ 2,079,642

$ 1,214,069

$ 15,363,393

149,038

62,270

31,223

295,335

434		

14,155		

38,215

Disposals		(6,700,000)		

(27,384)		

(6,455)		 (182,190)		

Effect on movements
in exchange rates		

(11,908)		

(34,938)		

(8,985)		

Balance at
November 30, 2011

$

155,009

$

987,721

$ 2,765,817

$ 1,354,051

$ 2,118,942

$ 1,245,292

$

8,626,832

Cost
Balance at
December 1,
2011

$

155,009

$

987,721

$ 2,765,817

$ 1,354,051

$ 2,118,942

$ 1,245,292

$

8,626,832

(37,066)		

-		
(22,970)		

-		 (6,916,029)
-		

(115,867)

Additions		

3,728		

9,157		

30,895		 103,797		

69,147		

11,304		

Disposals		

-		

(7,674)		

-		 (229,768)		

-		

-		

(237,442)

Effect on movements
in exchange rates		

7,699		

(20,040)		

(10,207)		

-		

(4,897)

Balance at
November 30, 2012

$

6,315		

11,336		

228,028

166,436

$

969,164

$ 2,803,027

$ 1,239,416

$ 2,177,882

$ 1,256,596

$

8,612,521

17,578

$

733,760

$ 1,641,085

$

$ 1,670,442

$ 1,177,031

$

6,054,557

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at
December 1,
2010

$

Additions		

814,661

116,412		

111,603		

303,723		 168,241		

146,919		

50,513		

Disposals		 (112,982)		

(17,921)		

(4,261)		 (165,456)		

(1,990)		

-		

(302,610)

Effect on movements
in exchange rates		

(1,257)		

(12,072)		

(5,179)		

(15,978)		

-		

(56,109)

Balance at
November 30, 2011

19,751

815,370

$

$

		 Land and 		
Office
		 buildings		 equipment

$ 1,935,368

$

(21,623)		
795,823

$ 1,799,393

$ 1,227,544

897,411

$

6,593,249

Manufacturing		Automotive		 Computer		 Computer
equipment		 equipment		 equipment		 software		

Total

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at
December 1,
$

6,593,249

Additions		

2011

3,192		

92,316		

233,086		 130,823		

141,693		

23,404		

624,514

Disposals		

-		

-		

-		 (187,386)		

-		

-		

Effect on movements
in exchange rates		

981		

(13,124)		

(8,795)		

-		

Balance at
November 30, 2012

$

$

19,751

23,924

$

$

4,461		

22,761		

$ 1,101,957

135,258		

At November 30,
2012

142,512

$

$

172,351		
74,602

$

$

409,200

$ 1,250,948

6,284

Carrying amounts
At December 1,
2010

609,608

$ 1,932,291

(187,386)

Total

$

762,021

$ 1,227,544

Manufacturing		Automotive		 Computer		 Computer
equipment		 equipment		 equipment		 software		

302,128

$

$ 1,799,393

		 Land and 		
Office
		 buildings		 equipment

$

$ 2,172,915

795,823

7,036,661

At November 30,
2011		

894,562

$ 1,935,368

$

$ 6,848,905

$

815,370

$

830,449		 558,228		

319,549		

630,112

245,591

$

477,395

$

$

37,038

$

9,308,836

17,748		 2,033,583
5,648

$

1,575,860
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6.

Equity investment:
		

2012		

2011

Xuzhou-PAT Control Technologies Limited (XPCT)
Balance – beginning of year

$

4,781,709

Currency gain (loss) on financial statement translation		

$

5,118,780

(124,888)		

295,226

Company’s share of earnings (loss)		

378,507		

(482,312)

Dividend received		

(159,710)		

(149,985)

Balance, end of year

$

4,875,618

$

4,781,709

The Company had sales to XPCT of $643,039 during the year (2011 - $1,453,739). At November 30, 2012 accounts receivable from
XPCT was $280,517 (2011 - $752,839).
		

2012		

2011

XPCT earnings
Company’s share of earnings (loss)

$

378,507

Gain on settlement of vendor loan 		

$

-		

$

378,507

(482,312)
520,000

$

37,688

In conjunction with the settlement of claims against the vendor as described in note 8, in 2011 the Company recorded a gain on settlement of vendor loan in the amount of $520,000.
Summary financial information for XPCT, reflecting the Company’s 50% ownership interest is as follows:
		
Current assets

$

2012		
$

$

5,014,055

2,200,779		

2,265,697		

2,221,960

Total assets

9,161,504

7,887,063

$

7,236,015
2,046,878

$

Current liabilities		

4,285,886		

3,074,583		

Non-current liabilities		

-		

30,771		

$

4,285,886

$

3,105,354

$

2,117,235

Net investment

$

4,875,618

$

4,781,709

$

5,118,780

Revenue

2012		

$

5,773,863

2011

$

4,429,245

Expenses		

5,296,699		

4,816,101

		

477,164		

(386,856)

Income tax expense		

98,657 		

95,456

Company’s share of earnings (loss)

$

378,507

$

(482,312)

Short-term loans:
		
Royal Bank of Canada credit facility. Authorized to a maximum
of $8.5 million with interest at bank prime plus 3.5% (2011 and
2010 - prime plus 1.55%) secured by a general security agreement.

$

HDFC Bank Limited credit facility. Authorized to a maximum of
46.7 million Indian Rupees (approximately $843,000 CDN), of
which 46.6 million Indian Rupees was drawn at November
30, 2012, with interest at 12.3% and secured by a standby
letter of credit issued by Royal Bank of Canada and guaranteed
by Export Development Canada		
$

30

70,357

Total liabilities

		

7.

5,621,366

2010

Non-current assets including goodwill		
$

6,960,725

2011		

2012		

5,705,699

$

870,023		
6,575,722

$

2011		

5,624,605

2010

$

4,784,117

933,784		

948,342

6,558,389

$

5,732,459

7.

Short-term loans - continued:
The Company’s short term loan, demand facility and term loan with the Royal Bank of Canada (“RBC”) are secured by a general security agreement on the assets of the Company held in Canada and the United States.
As at November 30, 2012 letters of credit issued against the RBC credit facility were $nil (November 30, 2011 - $103,220; December 1,
2010 - $173,316) for bid and performance guarantees on certain contracts.
The Company has an additional credit facility of $1.5 million US (November 30, 2011 and December 1, 2010 - $ 1.0 million US) with
RBC that is guaranteed by Export Development Canada (“EDC”) for the support of performance guarantees provided by the Company’s
subsidiaries. At November 30, 2012 performance guarantees totaling $459,362 were outstanding (November 30, 2011 - $685,264;
December 1, 2010 - $750,653).

8.

Long-term debt:
		
Royal Bank of Canada term loan, repayable in monthly
instalments of $78,430 including interest at a fixed rate of
5.65%. Repaid October, 2012

$

2012		

-

$

2011		

1,081,867

2010

$

2,656,302

-		

2,671,932

Royal Bank of Canada mortgage repayable in monthly
instalments of $20,906 including interest at a fixed rate of
6.144%. Repaid April, 2011.		

- 		

Vendor loan to finance the acquisition of XPCT, with interest
payable at 7% per annum. 		

-		

-		

1,000,000

		

-		

1,081,867		

6,328,234

Less current portion		

-		

903,000		

6,328,234

-

178,867

$

$

$

-

Under the terms and conditions of its credit facilities with RBC the Company was subject to certain covenants relating to the term loan.
These covenants required that the Company maintain a certain minimum level of fixed charge coverage as measured on an annual
basis, and that it not exceed a certain maximum ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth on a quarterly basis.
At December 1, 2010, the Company was not in compliance with the annual fixed charge coverage covenant. This constituted an event of
default under the terms of the credit facility, and therefore the term loan with RBC was included in the current portion of long-term debt.
The credit facility was subsequently amended and the Company remained in compliance.
In February 2011, the Company agreed to a settlement of the vendor loan associated with the XPCT acquisition in December, 2007.
Under the settlement arrangement, the Company paid $700,000 of the outstanding vendor loan of $1,000,000 and accrued interest of
$220,000 as final settlement of the XPCT purchase price. In addition, the Company agreed to discontinue various claims against the
vendor relating to the acquisition of XPCT.
9.

Income Taxes:
Reconciliation of tax provision:
Income tax expense attributable to earnings differs from the amounts computed by applying the combined federal and provincial income
tax rate of 27.1% (2011 – 28.6%) to loss before income taxes as a result of the following:
		
Loss before income taxes

$

2012		
$

(3,461,551)

(95,000)		

(990,000)

Non-deductible expenses		

100,000		

54,000

XPCT earnings		

(103,000)		

Non-taxable capital gain		

-		

Computed “expected” tax expense (recovery)		

(349,865)

2011

Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:
138,000
(218,000)

Rate difference on foreign losses		

(75,000)		

Unrecognized loss carry forwards		

427,000		

1,270,000

43,593		

37,967

Other		
$

297,593

$

(277,000)

14,967
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9.

Income Taxes - continued:
		

2012		

2011

Income tax expense is comprised of:
Current income taxes

$

Deferred income taxes		

506,221

$

706,976

(208,628)		

$

297,593

$

(692,009)
14,967

Recognized deferred income tax assets (liabilities):
		
		
Non-capital losses

December 1,
2010

Recognized
2011

November 30,
2011

Recognized
2012

November 30,
2012

$ 700,000

$ (397,000)

$ 303,000

$ (119,584)

$ 183,416

Unclaimed research and
development expenses		 253,000		 102,000		 355,000		

38,232		 393,232

Other			

59,522		 59,522

-		

-		

-		

Inventory		

-		

-		

-		

52,980		 52,980

Deferred revenue		

-		 167,556		 167,556		

43,210		 210,766

Investment tax credits		(539,000)		
Property, plant and equipment
Net deferred income tax
assets (liabilities)

32,000

(507,000)		 126,997

(487,453)		 787,453		 300,000		
$ (73,453)

$

692,009

$ 618,556

(380,003)

7,271		 307,271

$

208,628

$ 827,184

Unrecognized deferred income tax assets (liabilities):
Unrecognized deferred income tax assets relate primarily to non-capital losses in India.
December 1,
2010
Capital losses

$ 108,000

Non-capital losses 		

Change in
2011
$

(108,000)

November 30,
2011
$

-

Change in
2012
$

-

Adjustment to
prior year
$

November 30,
2012

-

$

-

-		 1,378,000		 1,378,000		 427,000		 (450,000)		 1,355,000

$ 108,000

$ 1,270,000

$ 1,378,000

$ 427,000

$ (450,000)

$ 1,355,000

Adjustment to prior year relates to losses that are expired or denied.
Non-capital loss carry forward:
Non-capital loss carry forward at November 30, 2012 expire as follows:
Year		
2019

$

Canada		
-

$

India		
77,263

Total

$

77,263
3,029,477

2020		

-		

3,029,477		

2021		

-		

661,946		

661,946

2028		

1,178,982		

-		

1,178,982

$

1,178,982

$

3,768,686

$

4,947,668

Investment tax credits:
At November 30, 2012, the Company has recognized investment tax credits of $2,837,134
(2011 - $2,856,573; 2010 - $3,267,486) as a result of its research and development activities. Investment tax credits can be carried
forward and used to reduce Canadian federal and provincial taxes of future years. Federal investment tax credits earned in 1998 and
later years may be carried forward for 20 years. Saskatchewan investment tax credits prior to March 19, 2009 and after March 31,
2012 can be carried forward for 10 years.
Investment tax credits available for carry forward at November 30, 2012 expire as follows:
Years		
2014 – 2022
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$

Federal		Saskatchewan		
-

$

After 2025		

1,735,239		

Total

1,735,239

$

$

1,101,895

Total

$

1,101,895

-		

1,735,239

1,101,895

$

2,837,134

10.

Revenue:
		
Contracted projects

2012		

$ 18,275,306

2011

$ 18,199,967

Service		 12,473,472		 10,433,152
Product sales		 10,828,535		 10,465,384
Total revenue
11.

$ 41,577,313

$ 39,098,503

Share capital:
(a)

Authorized:
An unlimited number of common voting shares.

(b)

Common shares:
Number of shares
Balance, November 30, 2012, November 30, 2011
and December 1, 2010

(c)

Amount

13,998,337		 $ 12,071,009

Options:
Under the terms of a stock option plan approved by the shareholders in May, 1997 and amended in 1998, the Company is authorized to grant officers, employees and others options to purchase common shares at prices based on the market price of shares
as determined on the date of the grant. At November 30, 2012, 355,665 (2011 - 238,165) options remain available to be granted.
Stock options become exercisable at dates determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors.
At November 30, 2012, the following stock options to officers, employees and others were outstanding:
Options Outstanding

		
		
Exercise
Prices

$ 0.31
		 0.34
		 0.43
		 1.20
		 1.29
			

Number
Outstanding
at
November 30, 2012

850,000
200,000
100,000
525,000
100,000
1,775,000

Options Exercisable

Weighted-Average		
Remaining
Weighted-Average
Contractual
Exercise
Life (years)
Prices

3.91
$
4.01		
4.95		
6.25		
0.42		
4.47
$

Number
Exercisable
at
November 30, 2012

0.31
0.34
0.43
1.20
1.29
0.64

Weighted-Average
Exercise
Price

283,306
$
-		
-		
525,000		
100,000		
908,306
$

0.31
1.20
1.29
0.93

The Company has granted stock options to officers, employees and others as follows:
Number of Common
Shares Issuable

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Outstanding, December 1, 2010

1,020,000

$

1.24

Options granted

1,010,000		

0.31

Options expired

(45,000)		

1.26

Options forfeited

(92,500)		

1.31

Outstanding, November 30, 2011

1,892,500

$

0.74

Options granted

400,000		

0.36

Options expired

(167,500)		

1.32

Options forfeited

(350,000)		

Outstanding, November 30, 2012

1,775,000

$

0.54
0.64

Outstanding options expire between May 1, 2013 and February 28, 2019.
During the year the Company recorded share-based compensation expense of $18,681 (2011 - $16,313) along with a corresponding increase in contributed surplus in shareholders’ equity for options vesting during the year.
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11.

Share capital - continued:
The inputs used in the measurement of the fair values at grant date of the stock option plan were as follows:
		

2012		

2011

Number of options granted		

400,000		 1,010,000

Average strike price

$ 0.36

$ 0.31

Expected volatility		

41%		

39%

Risk-free interest rate		

1.0%		

1.0%

Expected life of option		

5 years		

5 years

Weighted average grant date fair values

$ 0.14

$ 0.11

(d) Shareholders’ rights plan:
The Company adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan (the “Plan”), which was approved by the shareholders at its annual meeting held
on April 23, 1998. The Plan was established to deter coercive take-over tactics and to prevent an acquirer from gaining control of
the Company without offering a fair price to all of the Company’s shareholders. The Plan provides the Board of Directors and the
shareholders of the Company with more time to fully consider any unsolicited takeover bid for the Company, and more time for the
Board of Directors to pursue, if appropriate, other alternatives to maximize shareholder value.
Under the Plan, the Company will distribute one right in respect of each common share. The rights become exercisable eight
trading days after the first public announcement of the acquisition of 20% of the common shares of the Company by any person
or the announcement of a person’s intention to commence a take-over bid, other than a “permitted bid” which would result in such
person acquiring 20% of the Company’s common shares. Each right may be exercised at a price of $20 to purchase that number
of common shares of the Company which have a market value equal to two times the exercise price of the rights.
The requirements of a “permitted bid” include the following:
• the bid must be made by take-over bid circular to all holders of the Company’s common shares;
• the bid must be subject to an irrevocable condition that no shares shall be taken up or paid for prior to a date which is not
less than 60 days after the date of the bid and only if more than 50% of the outstanding common shares held by shareholders
(“independent shareholders”) other than the offeror and its related parties have been tendered to the bid;
• the bid must provide that shares may be deposited at any time during the bid period and that any shares so deposited may be
withdrawn at any time during such period; and;
• if more than 50% of the common shares held by independent shareholders are tendered to the bid, the offeror must extend the
bid for 10 days to allow shareholders who did not tender initially to take advantage of the bid if they so choose.
The Plan had an initial term of three years. The Plan contains a provision that, at or prior to the first annual meeting of shareholders
following the third anniversary of the date of the Plan, the Board may submit a resolution to the shareholders approving the extension of the Plan for a further three years. At the Company’s annual meeting held on May 13, 2010, the shareholders approved the
extension of the Plan for a further three years. The extended Plan contains a provision that, at or prior to the first annual meeting
of shareholders following the third anniversary of the date of the extended Plan, the Board may submit a resolution to the shareholders approving the extension of the Plan for a further three years.
12.

Research and development:

		
Research and development expenditures

$

Less grants and investment tax credits		
$
13.

2012		
1,510,624

$

(221,595)		
1,289,029

2011
1,392,587
(387,034)

$

1,005,553

2012		

2011

Expense classification:
(a) Personnel expenses
		
Wages and salaries

$ 11,354,776

Statutory benefits		

676,651		

736,315

Other employment benefits		

698,211		

697,360

Contributions to defined contribution plans		

217,155		

214,565

Share-based payment transactions		

18,681		

16,313

$ 12,965,474
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$ 11,920,745

$ 13,585,298

13.

Expense classification - continued:
(b) Depreciation expense:
		
Depreciation charge on property, plant and equipment

$

2012		
624,514

$

2011
897,411

Add: Depreciation in opening inventory		

23,097		

40,219

Less: Depreciation in closing inventory		

(16,195)		

(23,097)

Depreciation expense

631,416

$

914,533

420,583

$

Depreciation expense is allocated as follows:
Cost of goods sold

$

Administrative and marketing expenses		
$
14.

$

598,218

210,833		

316,315

631,416

$

914,533

2012		

2011

Loss per share:
The computations for basic and diluted loss per share are as follows:
		
Net loss

$

(647,458)

$ (3,476,518)

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:
Basic		 13,998,337		 13,998,337
Effect of stock options		

– 		

–

Diluted		 13,998,337		 13,998,337
Loss per share:
Basic

$

(0.05)

$

(0.25)

Diluted

$

(0.05)

$

(0.25)

The Company has stock options outstanding to purchase 1,775,000 common shares at November 30, 2012 (2011 – 1,892,500). At
November 30, 2012 and 2011, none of the options available to purchase common shares were included in the computation of diluted
loss per share as amounts were anti-dilutive.
15.

Financing Costs:
		
Interest on short-term debt

$

423,525

2011

$

324,655

Interest on long-term debt		

43,996		

217,479

Interest expense		

467,521		

542,134

Bad debt expense (note 16)

		

381,301		

905,867

Other financing costs		

-		

140,523

Foreign exchange losses (gains)		

184,608		

(102,217)

Losses (gains) on derivatives		

(38,800)		

88,087

$
16.

2012		

994,630

$

1,574,394

Financial Risk:
The Board of Directors is responsible to ensure that management identifies the principal risks of the Company’s business and for the
implementation of appropriate measures for dealing with and managing these risks.
The Company is exposed to various financial instrument related risks. The following are the types of risk exposures and methods of
managing these risks:
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16.

Financial Risk - continued:
Credit risk:
Credit risk arises from the potential that a customer or counterparty will fail to meet its contractual obligations. The cash balances are
held and transacted with bank and financial counterparties that are credit worthy with high credit ratings. The Company is exposed to
credit risk from its customers on its trade receivables and unbilled revenue. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of its receivables and unbilled revenue.
Accounts receivable is comprised of both trade and non-trade accounts. An allowance for doubtful accounts is established when there
is a reasonable expectation that the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. Accounts ultimately determined to be uncollectible are written off against the allowance.
Accounts receivable include amounts due from customers in both the government and private industry sectors which exposes the Company to risk of nonpayment. Government accounts are considered secure and are normally not subjected to extensive credit reviews.
Industry accounts are subjected to internal credit review in order to minimize risk of non-payment. Canadian export sales to non-government customers, not otherwise secured by Letter of Credit, are generally insured by EDC to the extent of 90% of the invoiced amount. In
addition, EDC provides project performance guarantees up to USD $2,000,000. This guarantee has been extended to May 31, 2013 at
which time it is up for renewal. The following table provides a breakdown of accounts receivable as described above:
		
Government

$

2012		
3,075,563

$

2011		
1,881,263

$

2010
3,695,784

Non-Government
Secured
Letter of credit		

4,681		

43,946

Export Development Canada insured		 4,147,450		 6,401,734		

488,808		

4,903,376

Other		 4,241,014		 2,338,368		

2,906,795

Allowance for doubtful accounts		 (1,006,851)		

(953,842)		

(470,606)

		 10,945,984		 9,672,204		 11,079,295
Unbilled revenue		 3,739,866		 3,868,862		
$ 14,685,850

$ 13,541,066

4,025,218

$ 15,104,513

The movement in the allowance for doubtful accounts is as follows:
		
Balance, beginning of year

$

2012		
953,842

$

2011		
470,606

$

2010
607,686

Bad debt expense		

381,301		

905,867		

61,202

Write offs		

(254,369)		

(426,243)		

(144,992)

Foreign currency revaluation		

(73,923)		

3,612		

(53,290)

Balance, end of year

$

1,006,851

$

953,842

$

470,606

Currency fluctuation risk:
Foreign currency risk arises as a result of fluctuations in exchange rates. The majority of the Company’s sales are denominated in U.S.
dollars while the majority of its costs are denominated in Canadian dollars. Fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar compared to the
Canadian dollar can affect earnings and cash flow.
Approximately 74% of the Company’s sales are denominated in U.S. dollars. During the fiscal year 2012 the Canadian dollar weakened
against the U.S. dollar by approximately 1.5% compared to fiscal year 2011. This resulted in an increase in the Canadian dollar value of
the Company’s U.S. dollar denominated sales of approximately $0.5 million during the 2012 fiscal year. This impact is partially offset by
the corresponding higher value of U.S. dollar denominated expenses.
From time to time the Company enters into forward foreign exchange contracts to sell U.S. dollars to hedge its net accounts receivable
denominated in these foreign currencies. The term of these forward contracts is of a short term nature with the objective of matching
the expected payments from customers. As of November 30, 2012 the Company has no foreign exchange forward contracts.
The Company also has exposure to other currencies including the Indian Rupee, Chilean Peso and Chinese Yuan primarily as a result of
its operations in those countries. The Company’s investments in these entities are not hedged as those currency positions are considered to be long-term in nature.

36

16.

Financial Risk - continued:
The following table illustrates the Company’s exposure to exchange risk and the pre-tax effects on earnings (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) (OCI) of a 5% increase in the Canadian dollar in comparison to the relevant foreign currency. This analysis assumes
all other variables remain constant.
Carrying amount of

Foreign Exchange Risk

Asset (Liability) at

5% increase in Cdn $

November 30, 2012
Net US dollar foreign currency exposure

$

Net Indian Rupee foreign currency		

Income

7,456,000		
159,000

OCI

(372,800)

		

(7,950)

Net Chilean Peso foreign currency exposure		

1,864,000			

(93,200)

Net Chinese Yuan foreign currency exposure		

4,875,618			

(243,781)

A 5% decrease in the Canadian dollar would have the opposite impact to those noted above.

Interest rate risk:
Interest rate risk arises because of the fluctuation in interest rates. Fluctuations in interest rates impact the future cash flows and fair
values of various financial instruments. The Company is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates. The Company’s cash flow is exposed
to interest fluctuations due to its variable interest rate instruments. The Company does not use derivative financial instruments to
mitigate interest rate risk.
At November 30, 2012, the effect of a 1% increase or decrease in the bank prime rate, with all other variables held constant would have
resulted in an increase or decrease of $48,000 to the Company’s net loss for the year.
Liquidity risk:
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become due. The Company’s approach
to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities as they become due.
The Company facilitates this in part by maintaining a line of credit in the amount of $8.5 million with the RBC, as disclosed in note 7.
At November 30, 2012 the remaining amount available to be drawn under this credit facility based on margin capacity is approximately
$2.4 million.
Also as disclosed in note 7, the Company maintains an operating line of credit for its operations in India with HDFC Bank Limited
(“HDFC”). At November 30, 2012 this facility was fully drawn. The current guarantee of this facility by EDC has been extended to July
31, 2013 at which time it is up for renewal.
In addition, EDC has extended its guarantee to May 31, 2013 of the Company’s additional credit facility of $1.5 million US with RBC for
the support of performance guarantees provided by the Company’s subsidiaries. At November 30, 2012 performance guarantees totaling $459,362 CDN are outstanding under this credit facility.
The table below presents a maturity analysis of the Company’s financial liabilities based on the expected cash flows from November 30,
2012 to the contractual maturity date. The amounts represent the contractual undiscounted cash flows (thousands of dollars).
Carrying
Amount of
Liability at
November 30,
2012

Contractual
Cash Flows
Including		
Interest
< 1 year

1 to 5
years

Short-term loans*

$ 6,576

$ 7,056

$ 7,056

-

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

$ 6,139

$ 6,139

$ 6,139

-

*Assumes balance is outstanding for 365 days.
The sensitivity analyses discussed and illustrated above for currency, interest rate and liquidity risk should be used with caution as the
changes are hypothetical and are not predictive of true performance. The above sensitivities are calculated with reference to periodend balances and will change due to fluctuation in the balances throughout the year. In addition, for the purpose of the sensitivity
analyses, the effect of a variation in a particular assumption on the fair value of the financial instrument was calculated independently
of any change in another assumption. Actual changes in one factor may contribute to changes in another factor, which may magnify or
counteract the effect on the fair value of the financial instrument.
Management of capital
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and, to provide an adequate return to shareholders.
The Company manages the capital structure with a mix of debt and equity and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may
assume more debt, issue new shares, purchase and cancel shares previously issued, return capital to shareholders or sell assets to
reduce debt.
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16.

Financial Risk - continued:
The capital structure of the Company is as follows:
		
Short-term debt

$

Long-term debt		

2012		
6,575,722

$

2011		
6,558,389

2010

$

5,732,459

-		 1,081,867		

6,328,234

Total debt		 6,575,722		 7,640,256		 12,060,693
Shareholders’ equity		 16,549,581		 17,217,156		 21,074,388
Total capital

$ 23,125,303

$ 24,857,412

$ 33,135,081

Fair value:
The Company classifies its fair value measurements by reference to the following fair value measurement hierarchy:
Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).
Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs).
Assets and liabilities carried at fair value in the Company’s financial statements are generally limited to derivative instruments used for
risk management purposes. Estimates of fair value for derivatives are determined using Level 3 measurements. At November 30, 2012,
no derivative contracts were outstanding. At November 30, 2011 $2.9 million of USD forward foreign currency exchange contracts were
outstanding with a loss of $94,000.
The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable,
unbilled revenue and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair value due to the short-term maturity of these items. The
fair value of the short-term loans approximates the carrying amounts since the debt bears interest at current market rates.
17.

Commitments:
The Company leases land and building under an operating lease expiring on April 14, 2023. Contractual lease obligations comprised of
base rent and operating costs for the next five years are as follows:
Due within 1 year

$

579,000

Due between 1 and 2 years		

579,000

Due between 2 and 3 years		

579,000

Due between 3 and 4 years		

579,000

Due between 4 and 5 years		

579,000

Thereafter		

3,109,144

$

6,004,144

During the year ended November 30, 2012 an amount of $579,000 was recognized as an expense in the statement of loss in respect of
operating leases (2011 - $363,425).
The Company has provided a guarantee in the amount of 7.5 million Yuan ($1,185,000) for 50% of a bank loan to XPCT. The guarantee
provided by the Company is proportionate to its shareholding in XPCT.
18.

Segmented Information:
The Company operates in one industry segment, the ITS industry, which involves the engineering, software development, manufacturing
and integration of products and systems to highway departments and industry to improve the efficiency of traffic flows.
The Company had revenue in the following geographic areas:
		
Canada

$

2012		
3,135,544

$

2011
3,662,323

United States		 24,395,723		 20,866,215
Overseas		 14,046,046		 14,569,965
$ 41,577,313
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18.

Segmented Information - continued:
The Company had non-current assets in the following geographic areas:
		
Canada

$

2012		
8,818,978

8,779,436

2010

$ 15,778,406

United States		

678,968		

918,666		

1,211,863

Overseas		

617,850		

592,319		

704,833

$ 10,115,796
19.

$

2011		

$ 10,290,421

$ 17,695,102

Statements of cash flows:
Other operating items
		
Accounts receivable

2012		

$ (1,837,722)

Unbilled revenue		

$

143,231		

Inventories		 1,066,631		
Prepaid expense and deposits		

157,064		

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities		 1,035,855		
$
20.

565,059

$

2011
153,733
(23,049)
168,009
(183,152)
125,258
240,799

Key management personnel and directors compensation:
In addition to salaries and benefits, executive officers also participate in the stock option program (see note 11). The Company compensates external directors through fees payable in cash or shares of the Company at the directors’ discretion.
Executive officers are subject to a mutual term of notice of four months. Upon resignation at the Company’s request executive officers
are entitled to termination benefits ranging from 12 to 18 months’ gross salary.
Key management and directors compensation includes:
		
Salaries and short-term employee benefits

$

Share-based compensation		
$
21.

2012		
1,074,762

$

18,681		
1,093,443

$

2011
1,045,818
16,313
1,062,131

Explanation of transition to IFRS:
The accounting policies set out in note 3 have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the year ended November 30, 2012,
the comparative information presented in these financial statements for the year ended November 30, 2011 and in the opening IFRS
statement of financial position at December 1, 2010 (the Company’s date of transition).
In preparing its opening IFRS statement of financial position, the Company has determined whether adjustments were required to
amounts reported previously in financial statements prepared in accordance with previous Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”). An explanation of how the transition has affected the Company’s financial position, financial performance and cash
flows is set out in the following tables and the notes that accompany the tables.

39

21.

Explanation of transition to IFRS – continued:
Reconciliation of equity at December 1, 2010 (date of transition to IFRS):
Canadian
GAAP

Adjustments

IFRS

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

667,724

$

-

$

667,724

Accounts receivable		 11,079,295		

-		 11,079,295

Unbilled revenue		 4,025,218		

-		

Income taxes receivable		

347,442		

-		

347,442

Inventories 		 7,187,770		

-		

7,187,770

-		

601,811

Prepaid expenses and deposits		

601,811		

		 23,909,260		

4,025,218

-		 23,909,260

Property, plant and equipment (a)		 6,151,430		 3,157,406		

9,308,836

Investment in XPCT 		 5,118,780		

-		

5,118,780

-		

3,267,486

(738,000)		

-

Investment tax credits recoverable 		 3,267,486		
Deferred taxes (b)		

738,000		

$ 39,184,956

$

$

$

2,419,406

$ 41,604,362

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Short-term loans

5,732,459

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities		 5,360,417		

$

5,732,459

-		

-

5,360,417

Current portion of deferred revenue		 2,500,007		

-		

2,500,007

Current portion of long-term debt		 6,328,234		

-		

6,328,234

		 19,921,117		

-		 19,921,117

Deferred revenue		

535,404		

-		

535,404

Deferred taxes		

-		

73,453		

73,453

Shareholders’ equity:
Share capital 		 12,071,009		

-		 12,071,009

Contributed surplus		

-		

246,587

Retained earnings (a)(b)(f)		 6,099,579		 2,299,295		

8,398,874

Accumulated other comprehensive income (f)		

246,587		
311,260		

46,658		

357,918

		 18,728,435		 2,345,953		 21,074,388
$ 39,184,956
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2,419,406
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21.

Explanation of transition to IFRS – continued:
Reconciliation of equity at November 30, 2011:

Canadian
GAAP

Adjustments

IFRS

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

917,161

$

$

917,161

-		

9,672,204

Unbilled revenue		 3,868,862		

-		

3,868,862

Income taxes receivable		

312,727		

-		

312,727

Inventories 		 6,873,808		

-		

6,873,808

Prepaid expenses and deposits		

-		

784,963

Accounts receivable		 9,672,204		

784,963		

		 22,429,725		

-

-		 22,429,725

Property, plant and equipment 		 2,033,583		

-		

2,033,583

Investment in XPCT		 4,781,709		

-		

4,781,709

Investment tax credits recoverable 		 2,856,573		

-		

2,856,573

Deferred taxes (d)		 1,358,000		

(739,444)		

618,556

$ 33,459,590

$

$

$

(739,444)

$ 32,720,146

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Short-term loans

6,558,389

-

$

6,558,389

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities		 5,205,917		

-		

5,205,917

Current portion of deferred revenue (c)		 2,585,079		

(252,936)		

2,332,143

-		

903,000

Current portion of long-term debt		

903,000		

		 15,252,385		

(252,936)		 14,999,449

Deferred revenue (c)		 2,948,951		 (2,624,277)		

324,674

Long-term debt		

178,867

178,867		

-		

Shareholders’ equity:
Share capital 		 12,071,009		

-		 12,071,009

Contributed surplus		

-		

262,900

Retained earnings (c)(d)(f)		 2,831,245		 2,091,111		

4,922,356

Accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) (f)		

262,900		

(85,767)		

46,658		

(39,109)

		 15,079,387		 2,137,769		 17,217,156
$ 33,459,590

$

(739,444)

$ 32,720,146
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21.

Explanation of transition to IFRS – continued:
Reconciliation of comprehensive loss for the year ended November 30, 2011:
Canadian
GAAP
Revenue

$ 39,098,503		

Cost of goods sold (a)(e)		 29,555,078		

Adjustments

-

IFRS

$ 39,098,503

511,531		 30,066,609

Gross margin		 9,543,425		

(511,531)		

Administrative and marketing expenses (e)		 10,730,805		

(730,075)		 10,000,730

Research and development 		 1,005,553		

9,031,894

-		

1,005,553

Financing costs, net (e)		

528,004		 1,046,390		

1,574,394

Depreciation (e)		

776,132		

(776,132)		

Other expense (income) (c)		

(278,023)		

228,479		

(49,544)

XPCT earnings		

(37,688)		

-		

(37,688)

Loss before income taxes		 (3,181,358)		
Income tax expense (b)(d)		
Net loss

86,976		

$ (3,268,334)		

-

(280,193)		 (3,461,551)
(72,009)		
(208,184)

14,967

$ (3,476,518)

Other comprehensive loss
Unrealized foreign currency translation losses		
Total comprehensive loss

(397,027)		

$ (3,665,361)		

-		
(208,184)

(397,027)

$ (3,873,545)

Adjustments to the statement of cash flows:
Interest paid and income taxes paid are now included in the body of the statement of cash flows rather than being disclosed as supplementary information. The Company has elected to reflect interest paid as a financing cash flow rather than an operating cash flow. There
were no other material differences between the statements of cash flows presented under IFRS compared to Canadian GAAP.
IFRS 1 First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards:
IFRS 1 First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards sets out the reporting requirements when IFRS is adopted for
the first time. The Company is required to establish its IFRS accounting policies for the year ended November 30, 2012 and apply those
policies retrospectively to determine the Company’s consolidated statement of financial position at the date of transition, December 1,
2010. IFRS 1 provides for a number of mandatory exceptions applicable to first time adopters of IFRS. None of these mandatory exceptions had a material impact on the Company’s transition to IFRS. IFRS 1 also provides certain optional exemptions that may be elected
by first time adopters of IFRS. As part of the transition, the Company elected the following optional exemptions:
Business combinations
The Company elected to apply the business combinations exemption in IFRS 1 and did not apply IFRS 3 Business Combinations retrospectively to past business combinations. Accordingly, the Company has not restated business combinations that were effected prior to
December 1, 2010 and the transition to IFRS has not impacted amounts previously reported for business combinations under Canadian
GAAP.
Borrowing costs
The Company elected to apply IAS 23 Borrowing Costs to borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets for which the commencement
date for capitalization is on or after the transition date to IFRS. There was no impact as a result of this election.
Fair value of property, plant and equipment as deemed cost:
Companies may elect to report items of property, plant and equipment in their opening statement of financial position on the transition
date at either deemed or historical cost. The option can be applied separately to each asset or class of assets. The Company has elected
to report the land and building that houses its head office and manufacturing facility at fair value on transition to IFRS. Two independent
fair value appraisals for the building were obtained to determine the fair value of the land and building as at December 1, 2010. Depreciation on the deemed cost of the building began as at that date using a 5% depreciation rate. See note (a) for the impact of this election.
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21.

Explanation of transition to IFRS – continued:
Share-based payments:
The Company has elected not to retrospectively apply IFRS 2 Share-based Payments to equity instruments that were granted and had
vested before the transition date. As a result of applying this exemption, the Company will apply the provisions of IFRS 2 only to all
outstanding equity instruments that are unvested as at the Transition Date to IFRS. The impact of applying this election to outstanding
equity instruments unvested at the transition date was not material.

Notes to reconciliations:
a)

Fair value of property, plant, and equipment as deemed cost
As noted above, the Company has elected to recognize land and building that houses its head office and manufacturing facility in
Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, at fair value as deemed cost on transition date. As a result of applying this exemption, the net book
value of the land and building increased by $3,157,406 at December 1, 2010 with a corresponding increase in retained earnings.
The increase in the net book value of the building resulted in an increase in depreciation of $51,714 for the year ended November
30, 2011.

b)

Deferred tax adjustment related to fair value of property, plant, and equipment as deemed cost
The election to recognize land and building at fair value as deemed cost results in a taxable temporary difference of $811,453 with
a corresponding decrease in retained earnings on transition.
This taxable temporary difference reverses as the building is depreciated and resulted in a tax recovery of $13,290 for the year
ended November 30, 2011.

c)

Sale leaseback transaction
In April 2011, the Company sold its head office and manufacturing facility for net proceeds of $6,516,625 under a sale leaseback transaction. Under Canadian GAAP, the Company realized a gain of $3,035,298 on the sale. The gain on sale was deferred
and was being amortized over the term of the building lease. For the year ended November 30, 2011, the Company recognized
$158,085 of the deferred gain in other income resulting in a residual deferred gain at November 30, 2011 of $2,877,213.
As a result of the deemed cost election made by the Company on transition to IFRS, the corresponding loss realized on disposition
under IFRS was $70,394. Under IFRS, the realized loss is recognized immediately in other expense.
Current and long-term deferred gain amounts under Canadian GAAP have been reversed as at November 30, 2011 with a
corresponding increase in retained earnings. Other income for the year ended November 30, 2011 was reduced by $228,479
representing the reversal of deferred gains recognized in income under Canadian GAAP of $158,085 and the loss realized on
disposition under IFRS of $70,394.

d)

Deferred tax adjustment related to gains (losses) on sale leaseback transaction
On the disposition of land and buildings under the sale leaseback transaction, the remaining taxable temporary difference described in note (b) of $798,163 was reversed.
The deductible temporary difference arising from the recognition of the deferred gain on the sale leaseback transaction under
Canadian GAAP described in note (c) reversed as the deferred gain was recognized in other income. The tax provision of $40,628
recognized under Canadian GAAP on income recognized for the year ended November 30, 2011 has been reversed.
Similarly a tax recovery of $18,091 has been recorded on the loss recognized on the sales leaseback transaction under IFRS for
the year ended November 30, 2011.

e)

Reclassification of expenses
Depreciation expense has been allocated to cost of goods sold or administrative and marketing expenses on the basis of the function of the class of assets.
Certain financing costs have been reclassified from administration and marketing expenses to financing costs.

f)

Foreign currency translation
Under Canadian GAAP, the Company recognized a portion of the net unrealized foreign currency translation gain (loss) in earnings
(loss) on the receipt of dividends from XPCT. Under IFRS such amounts are not recognized.
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Corporate Governance
At International Road Dynamics Inc., we take governance and the interests of our
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Full details can be found in the Company’s Information Circular.
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